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Corporate Information
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Sung Wai (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Chan Hau Kong (suspended)
Mr. Wong King Lam, Joseph
Mr. Danny Sun

(resigned on 17 September 2010)
Ms. Lee Yang

(resigned on 17 September 2010)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Tong Leung Sang
(appointed on 19 November 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yiu Fai Ming
Mr. Zhang Xianlin
Mr. Tse Yuk Kong
Mr. Lum Pak Sum
(appointed on 19 November 2010)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Leung Lai Si, Rosena

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank Corporation
Agricultural Bank of China

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
CITIC Bank International Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Unit 04, 34/F., Bank of America Tower
12 Harcourt Road
Central, Hong Kong

REGISTRARS (IN BERMUDA)

HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited
Bank of Bermuda Building

6 Front Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

REGISTRARS (IN HONG KONG)

Tricor Secretaries Limited
26/F., Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.aplushk.com/clients/0899asiaresources/
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEkEREEREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky (“Mr. Chim"), aged 41, appointed as
an executive Director on 15 October 2008 and the Chairman of the
Company on 19 December 2008. Mr. Chim holds a Bachelor degree
in Arts from the University of British Columbia in Canada and has
over 10 years of commercial, industrial and investment experiences.

Mr. Chim is also an executive director of Bestway International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 718), which is listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). He has been an executive director of Huscoke
Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 704) for the period from
September 2007 to 2 September 2010, Yueshou Environmental
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1191) for the period from May 2007
to November 2009, Hengli Properties Development (Group) Limited
(stock code: 169) for the period from June 2007 to December 2008,
Bel Global Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 761) for the
period from April 2007 to November 2008 and Karce International
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 1159) for the period from
August 2007 to April 2009.

Mr. Chim is the son of Mr. Chim Pui Chung, who is the shareholder
of Golden Mount Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Mr. Chan Sung Wai (“Mr. Chan"), aged 63, appointed as an
executive Director on 15 October 2008 and the Deputy Chairman
on 16 January 2009. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in trading,
real property and shipping industries. Mr. Chan also has extensive
experience in financial and media business. He has been working
for a number of years in the major media companies in Hong Kong,
and is responsible for covering, editing and writing commentaries.
Mr. Chan is also a chief editor of the petroleum magazine and has
comprehensive knowledge on the media industry in the PRC.

Currently, Mr. Chan is also an executive director of Karce
International Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 1159), which
is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan has
been an executive director of Energy International Investments
Holdings Limited (stock code: 353) for the period from November
2008 to 12 April 2011 and Grand Field Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 115) for the period from 14 November 2007 to 18 June
2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Chan Hau Kong (“Mr. HK Chan"), aged 32, appointed as an
executive Director on 30 July 2009. Mr. HK Chan studied Bachelor of
Business in the University of Newcastle, Australia and is experienced
in commercial and investment fields. Mr. HK Chan is a director
of Tian Sheng Resources Development Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Wong King Lam, Joseph (“Mr. Wong"), aged 59, appointed
as an executive Director on 1 October 2009. Mr. Wong is fellow
members of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
has more than 29 years extensive experience in auditing, corporate
and financial management with a number of companies in different
business sectors which include an international accounting firm and
local listed companies.

Currently, Mr. Wong is an executive director of Karce International
Holdings Company Limited (Stock code: 1159) since 12 October
2009. He has been an executive director of Grand Field Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 115) during the period from 16
March to 31 December 2007 and was subsequently re-appointed
as executive director of the same company since 20 November
2009. He is also an independent non-executive director of Tungtex
(Holdings) Company Limited (stock code: 518) since 8 August 2004.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Tong Leung Sang (“Mr. Tong”), aged 61, appointed as a non-
executive Director on 19 November 2010. Mr. Tong had over 40
years' extensive experience in the banking, securities and finance
industries. He served Bank of China Group, Hong Kong for over
30 years. He had been an Economic Researcher of the Group from
1970 to 1989 and the Executive Director of BOCI (known as Bank
of China Group before 1998) Securities Limited and BOCI (known
as Bank of China Group before 1998) Commodities and Futures
Limited from 1989 to 2002. He joined Luen Fat Securities Company
Limited in 2003 and became the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Luen Fat Futures (HK) Limited since 2009.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Tong was also an alternate committee member of the Listing
Committee of Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the year of 1996-97,
a committee member of The Hong Kong Stock Brokers Association
for the year of 2001-02, a committee member of the membership
committee of the Hong Kong Securities Institute from 2000-2004
as well as the Chairman of the Hong Kong Securities Professional
Association ("HKSPA") from 1996-2001. He was appointed as the
Permanent Honorable Chairman of the HKSPA since 2004.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Yiu Fai Ming (“Mr. Yiu"),

independent non-executive Director on 16 December 2008. Mr. Yiu

aged 56, appointed as an

is currently the executive director of King Jet Investment Services
Limited, a company engaged in the provision of business and
investment advisory services to corporate clients. Mr. Yiu holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration from Open University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Yiu is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, UK, an Associate of Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and a member of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong. Mr. Yiu has over 30 years extensive working experience
firstly in accounting and auditing at Price Waterhouse (now known
as PricewaterhouseCoopers) and secondly in financial management
in both the industrial and commercial sector, including privately-
owned and listed companies in varied industries in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Zhang Xianlin (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 57, appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 December 2008.
Currently, Mr. Zhang is the executive director of China-No1.com.
Mr. Zhang graduated from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology with a Master Degree in Business Administration and
a Doctor Degree in Management. He is a Chinese certified public
accountant and senior accountant. During the period from 1974
to 2007, he served in the senior management positions in China
National Aviation Corporation (Group) Limited and the Civil Aviation
Administration of China. Besides, Mr. Zhang was a General Manager
in China National Aviation Company Limited, a director in Hong
Kong Dragon Airlines Limited, the Chairman of Board of Supervisors
in Air Macau Company Limited and the Chairman of Board of
Supervisors in Air China Limited (stock code: 753). Mr. Zhang has
also been a non-executive director of Cathy Pacific Airways Limited
(stock code: 293) during the period from August 1997 to May 2005.
Mr. Zhang has over 30 years of extensive experience in enterprise
finance and investment management.

Mr. Tse Yuk Kong (“Mr. Tse”), aged 55, appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 3 February 2009. Mr. Tse is
an experienced TV production professional, expert in image building,
product positioning and related production. Starting from 1984, he
had worked for Art Department of Television Broadcasts Limited,
followed by the Art Department of Asia Television Limited ("ATV").
He then worked as ATV Production Service Assistant Controller from
year 2002 to 2007, managing various aspects of ATV Production
Services. Currently, Mr. Tse is a director of Wealthy Port Holdings
Limited, which is engaged in properties investments in Hong Kong
and Mainland China.

Mr. Tse was an independent non-executive director of Nam Hing
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 986) during the year 2010 and up to January
2011. He was also an independent non-executive director of Karce
International Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1159) for a period
from March 2009 to April 2009.
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Mr. Lum Pak Sum (“Mr. Lum”), aged 50, appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 19 November 2010. Mr. Lum
holds a master degree in business administration from the University
of Warwick, UK and a LLB (Honor) degree from the University of
Wolverhampton, UK. He is currently a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK. Mr. Lum has over 20 years'
experience in the financial field, the money market and capital
market.

Mr. Lum was an independent non-executive director of Grand Field
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 115) for the period from July
2004 to May 2008, China Star Film Group Limited (stock code:
8172) for the period from September 2005 to December 2008 and
Heng Xin China Holdings Limited (stock code: 8046) for the period
from June 2007 to November 2008.

Currently, he is an independent non-executive director of Waytung
Global Group Limited (stock code: 21),
Investments Holdings Limited (stock code: 353),

Energy International
Bestway
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 718), Karce International
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 1159) and Radford Capital
Investment Limited (stock code: 901). These companies are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Toni Nurdianto Prabowo, aged 45, appointed as Project
Manager of PT. Dampar Golden International (the subsidiary
involving in iron sand trading business in Indonesia) on 14 February
2011 and Director on 18 March 2011. Mr. Toni Nurdianto holds a
Bachelor Degree in Mechanical Engineering from Sepuluh November
Institute of Technology Surabaya, Indonesia, certified as Project
Management Professional from Project Management Institute, and

has over 18 years of experiences in various industries in Indonesia.
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Before joining the Group, he was a Project Manager and Manager of
Facilities Operation & Maintenance of INCO Indonesia, Nickel Mine
Company that listed in Indonesia Stock Exchange for the period
from June 2003 to February 2011. He has been Project Management
Development Team Leader for PT. Dok & Perkapalan Kodja Bahari,
the Stated Owned Enterprise of Republic Indonesia for the period
from May 2000 to March 2003, and was a staff for Secretary of The
State Minister of State Owned Enterprises of Republic of Indonesia
for the period from August 1998 to May 2000.

Ms. Mamik Hartini, aged 34, graduated from Satya Widya Tourism
High School, in Surabaya, East Java, Indonesia, was appointed as
Office Manager of PT. Dampar Golden International (the subsidiary
involving in iron sand trading business in Indonesia) on 15 February
2011.

Before joining the Group, she has been the Sales & Marketing
Manager of PT. Intil and Development Tbk for the period from
March 2007 to February 2011; and as Administration Assistant of
Magnussen Company for the period from May 2006 to February
2007. She was Assistant Sales Manager of a 4 stars hotel at
Somerset Surabaya Hotel & Serviced Residence, an International
Hotel Chain of The Ascott International for more than seven years
up to May 2006.
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The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
to protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The
Company regularly reviews the corporate governance procedures
and developments of the Company. The Company applied the
principles and complied with all the code provisions as set out in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) throughout the period under review, except for
the deviation from provision A.4.1 of the Code which is explained in
the relevant paragraph below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group's business strategic decisions and
performances.
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During the year ended 31 March 2011, 6 board meetings were held

and the attendance of each director is set out as follows:

Annual Report 2011 &%
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NUMBER OF
ATTENDANCE
DIRECTORS Ex HE IR B
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky ERl#EkAE 6/6
Mr. Chan Sung Wai PREZIE A 6/6
Mr. Chan Hau Kong BRE &

(suspended on 23 November 2010) (RZ2—ZEF+—AZF+=AHEER%) 2/3
Mr. Wong King Lam, Joseph E= it 6/6
Mr. Danny Sun Danny Sun%t 4

(resigned on 17 September 2010) (RZZE—ZFNA+LBEMT) 0/1
Ms. Lee Yang Lee YangZ &

(resigned on 17 September 2010) (RZZE—ZFNA+LBEMT) 0/1
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Tong Leung Sang & sn S A

(appointed on 19 November 2010) (R—ZE—ZF+—A+LBEZMT) 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Yiu Fai Ming Pk AR S A 6/6
Mr. Zhang Xianlin SR B A& 3/6
Mr. Tse Yuk Kong HET A 6/6
Mr. Lum Pak Sum MIEARE A&

(appointed on 19 November 2010) (RZE—ZF+—-—HATILBEZE) 4/4
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Apart from regular board meetings of the year, the board of
Directors will meet on other occasions when a board level decision
on a particular matter is required. The Directors receive details of
agenda items for decision and minutes of committee meetings in
advance of each board meeting. The board of Directors has reserved
for its decision or consideration matters covering corporate strategy,
annual and interim results, Directors’ appointment, succession
planning, risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial matters.
Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the board
of Directors to the management include the preparation of annual
and interim accounts for board approval before public reporting,
execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the
board of Directors, implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with

relevant statutory requirements, rules and regulations.
BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors, being Mr.
Chim Kim Lun, Ricky (Chairman), Mr. Chan Sung Wai (Deputy
Chairman), Mr. Chan Hau Kong (suspended) and Mr. Wong King
Lam, Joseph; one Non-executive Director, being Mr. Tong Leung
Sang; and four Independent Non-executive Directors, being Mr. Yiu
Fai Ming, Mr. Zhang Xianlin, Mr. Tse Yuk Kong and Mr. Lum Pak
Sum.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
persons with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of
accounting and appropriate expertise. They provide strong support
towards the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities
of the Board. Each Independent Non-executive Director gives an
annual confirmation of his independence to the Company and the
Company considers these directors to be independent under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, the appointment of Non-executive
Directors should have been appointed for a specific term.

The Non-executive Directors of the Company were not appointed for
specific terms but subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
for every three years at the annual general meeting pursuant to the
Bye-laws of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

Under the code provision B.1.1, the Company should establish a
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authority and duties. The role and function of the Remuneration
Committee include the determination of the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and senior management of
the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the board of the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company comprises an
Executive Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

As at the date of this report, members of the Remuneration
Committee included: Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky, Mr. Yiu Fai Ming, Mr.
Zhang Xianlin and Mr. Tse Yuk Kong.

Annual Report 2011 &%
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One Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the fiscal

year. The attendance of each member is set out as follows:

DIRECTORS BE

FTHZEERAMBRFEACRIT -RE

Ao BB ZHERAT
NUMBER OF
ATTENDANCE
H R B

Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky Bl kA

Mr. Yiu Fai Ming Wk HE AR S A
Mr. Zhang Xianlin SR B A&
Mr. Tse Yuk Kong H B 5 A4

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are

summarized as follows:

1. To make recommendations with respect to the remuneration
of the Executive Directors and the senior management of the

Company; and

2. To review the remuneration package and recommend salaries,
bonuses, including the incentive awards for Executive Directors

and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and reviewed the
existing terms of employment contracts of the executive Directors
and appointment letters of the non-executive Directors with
reference to the factors including salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company and desirability
of performance-based remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
considers that the existing terms of employment contracts of the
executive Directors and appointment letters of the non-executive
Directors are fair and reasonable. Details of the emolument policy of

the Directors are set out on page 32 of this report.
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CEBREE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the accounts for
the year ended 31 March 2011, the Directors have adopted suitable
accounting policies which are pertinent to its operations and
relevant to the financial statements, made judgements and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on

the going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s system of

internal control.

To facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of operations and
to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the
Group emphasizes on the importance of a sound internal control
system which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s risk
exposures. The Group's system of internal control is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in

operational systems and fulfillment of the business objectives.

The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by
the Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing
reasonable assurance in relation to protection of material assets and
identification of business risks. The Board is satisfied that, based on
information furnished to it and on its own observations, the present

internal controls of the Group are satisfactory.
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The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and
management of risks associated with its business activities and
has implemented a practical and effective control system which
includes a defined management structure with limits of authority, a
sound cash management system and periodic review of the Group’s

performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control and is of the view that the system of internal
control adopted for the year ended 31 March 2011 is sound and is
effective to safeguard the interests of the shareholders’ investment

and the Company’s assets.
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises four Independent
Non-executive Directors.

AEERNHER EEREREEEBEY
ERAzRR WEEE—BERIITRBR
ZEESE  BEEM A TR EEEE
RIFZHELEBRFE ULAEZZESN
EESTHMHASE  EEBETRS

EFENCENNBEEHEL HRE 5
ARE-T——FZAZ|-ALEERM
ZREELEBEE RN B IARER
RREZBERADTEE

BREMNEBMIFNITE

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. The minutes EZZEGBF AL BITMREGHE X
of the Audit Committee meetings were kept by the Company ZEGZERLHBHARMERTF BZE
Secretary. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review BEgvIZREATHNREELAEE UK
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control B SRAE Fr fo ) EB B 12 Il o
system of the Group.
The attendance of each member of Audit Committee is set out as EZZEGERBECHERNT
follows:
NUMBER OF
ATTENDANCE
DIRECTORS = HE R
Mr. Yiu Fai Ming ok 1B A 5 A4 3/3
Mr. Zhang Xianlin R BME & 2/3
Mr. Tse Yuk Kong BT 5 A4 3/3
Mr. Lum Pak Sum N EES
(appointed on 19 November 2010) (RZZE—ZFT—-ATHLAEZT) 1/1
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The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group, and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the interim report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2011,

remuneration paid to the Company’s auditors, Messrs. HLB Hodgson

under review, the

Impey Cheng, is set out as follows:

Annual Report 2011 &%

ENZEQCHERERMASERA ZE
FHERIRER - L E X AEEEEIE R
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= B ED B =
ﬁEW : EHﬁL\ ﬂ*?%ﬁﬁﬁl?iIQui'Eﬂi%ﬁ%
PrzBe&sImT :

Fees paid/payable

Services rendered Frig AR 7% BN EREAR
HK$'000

FAT

Audit services 1% B R 7% 380
Non-audit services (note) I ERTE (B aE) 457

Note: The audit committee is of the view that the auditors independence
was not affected by the provision of these non-audit related services
during the year ended 31 March 2011.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders through
the Company’s annual report and financial statements, the interim
report, as well as the Annual General Meeting ("AGM"). The AGM

allows the directors to meet and communicate with shareholders.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a

timely basis.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Asia Resources Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the”Group”), | am
pleased to present the audited consolidated results for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

RESULTS OF THE YEAR

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the turnover of the Group
was HK$157,929,000 (2010: HK$135,320,000), an increase of
16.7% as compared with last year. Correspondingly, the Group had
reduced its loss attributable to owners of the Company by 35.9% to
HK$45,061,000 (2010: loss of HK$70,280,000).

The reduction of loss were mainly attributable to (i) improvement
of HK$2,418,000 in the manufacturing and sales of pharmaceutical
products segment; (ii) gain on fair value change in respect of
financial liability of HK$3,860,000 (convertible notes) reflected
through profit or loss account; and (iii) decrease in loss on early
redemption of promissory notes of HK$20,204,000.

The basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March
2011 was HK1.39 cents (2010: basic and diluted loss per share of
HK4.24 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2011, we have conducted an
overall review on the Group's performance and investments. We
believed that an overhaul of the Group’s operations was necessary

to safeguard the maximum interest of the shareholders.
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In respect of the intravenous fluids business, we have reviewed the
progress and effect of the restructuring of the production plants in
our factories. Consequently, we have found that the restructuring
process to enhance the production capacity was proved to be
successful in our Siping factory; it has resumed profitability during
the year under review. However, the restructuring process in our
Wenzhou factory was not yet succeeded, and its performance was
not in line with the Group's expectation. As a result, the factory in
Wenzhou was disposed on 16 May 2011. The Group believes that
the disposal of the Wenzhou factory creates a good opportunity for
the Group to concentrate its resources in the Siping factory and the
iron mine business.

The business plan of the Mongolia Iron Mine was further delayed
due to the resignation of the key personnel, Mr. Danny Sun and
Ms. Lee Yang (both of them have extensive experience in resources
industry) in September 2010. As a result of the delay, a decrease
in fair value of Mining Right of HK$10,415,000 was recorded in
accordance with the valuation report of an Independent Valuer.

Since completion of the acquisition of 55% of the entire issued
share capital in PT. Dampar Golden International (“PT. Dampar”) on
29 September 2010, the Company has set up an office and recruited
local staffs in Surabaya so as to start up its trading of iron sand
business in Indonesia. Also, we have engaged project managers to
monitor the development of the said trading business in Indonesia.
It is expected that the trading business will be commenced in the
last quarter of 2011.

In addition to maintaining stable operation of the existing business,
the Group is actively exploring opportunities to achieve further
business diversification, with an aim to broaden its revenue stream
and earning base. We are confident to improve the overall efficiency
of the Group and are committed to achieve satisfactory return for

the shareholders.
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DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year (2010: nil).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Pharmaceutical Operation

The operating environments of the Pharmaceutical Operation for the

year under review were still full of challenges.

During the fiscal year, the Group continued its tight control
over costs and enhancement of operating efficiency. While we
restructured the Wenzhou factory, the high and rising operating cost
in Wenzhou City the PRC, like labor cost, production cost and very
keen competition, caused the said factory still suffered a loss. In
view of the unsatisfactory performance of the Wenzhou factory, the
Board took a strategic initiative to dispose the factory on 18 March
2011.

Whereas, for Siping factory, the restructure of enhancement of
production capacity was found successful, increasing both its
production and sales volumes, mitigating the impact of decline in

selling price.
As a result, the Group recorded an increase of approximately 16.7%

in the revenue from this segment to approximately HK$157,929,000
as compared with approximately HK$135,320,000 of last year.
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With the increase in cost and decline in selling price, the gross
profit for the segment decreased to approximately HK$50,296,000,
representing a decrease of 6.4% as compared with approximately
HK$53,763,000 last year.

Having said that, we have successfully imposed tight control over
the administration, distribution and selling expenses, thus this
segment loss reduced to approximately HK$9,974,000, representing
an improvement of 19.5% as compared with loss of approximately
HK$12,392,000 last year.

Looking forward to next year, with disposal of the poor performed
Wenzhou factory in May 2011, the Group will continue improving
the production capacity of the remaining factory in Siping, and
incorporating effective control over administration, distribution
and selling expenses. We have confidence to further enhance the
financial results of the intravenous fluids business in the coming

year.
Iron Ore Mine Operation

Since completion of the acquisition of the Mongolia subsidiary (Tian
Sheng Group) in June 2009, the Mongolia Iron Mine operation
was stagnant. The business plan was further postponed due to the
resignation of the key personnel, Mr. Danny Sun and Ms. Lee Yang
(both of them have extensive experience in resources industry) in
September 2010. To deal with this, the company is in the course of
re-considering the overall operating strategy for Mongolia Iron Mine.
These include but not limited to the following possible approaches,
(i) recruiting expertise staff to start the exploration & exploitation
work of the Mongolia Iron Mine; (ii) leasing the exploration right
of the Mongolia Iron Mine to third party; (iii) cooperating with
other local mining companies which has exploration experience
and expertise led by professional geologists, or (iv) disposing of the
Mongolia Iron Mine.
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In respect of the iron mining business in Indonesia acquired on 29
September 2010, the Company has set up an office and recruited
local staffs in Surabaya, so as to start up its trading of iron sand
business in Indonesia. Project managers have been engaged to
monitor the development of the said trading business in Indonesia.
Separators machines have been ready and placed in the temporary
warehouse at Lumajang, Indonesia, and will be installed in mine site
once obtaining the necessary permit. It is expected that the trading
business will be commenced in the last quarter of 2011.

Accordingly, the Iron Ore Mine Operation segment recorded a loss
of approximately HK$2,075,000 for the year ended 31 March 2011.
The loss was mainly comprised of administrative expenses.

During the year under review, the Group incurred non-cash finance
costs of HK$16,511,000 as a result of the imputed interests
on promissory notes (HK$5,147,000) and the convertible notes
(HK$11,364,000) issued to the vendors of Mongolia Iron Mine and
Indonesia Iron Mine business.

In accordance with the valuation report of the equity component of
the convertible note issued, fair value change in respect of financial
liability of HK$3,860,000 (convertible note) was reflected through
profit or loss account; this non-cash item enhanced our financial
results accordingly.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Shareholders’ equity increased to approximately HK$586,842,000
as at 31 March 2011 from approximately HK$438,253,000 as at 31
March 2010. As at 31 March 2011, the short term and long term
interest bearing debts to shareholders’ equity was approximately
20.5% (as at 31 March 2010 : approximately 18.8%).
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As announced on 4 March 2010, the Group proposed an Open
Offer of 1,015,300,295 offer shares on the basis of one offer share
for every two shares held on 23 March 2010 at the offer price of
HK$0.13. The Open Offer was completed on 30 April 2010 and
1,015,300,295 offer shares were issued.

On 18 October 2010 and 15 December 2010, the holders of the
convertible notes converted convertible notes of approximately
HK$110,447,000 and HK$11,178,000 respectively into 592,844,873
and 60,000,000 ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$0.1863.

The Directors believe that the above fund raising exercise provides
an opportunity to broaden the shareholder base and strengthens
its capital base and financial position for its future business
developments. The Group used the net proceeds of the Open Offer
as partial settlement of consideration of previous acquisition of the
mining right of Mongolia Mine and the exclusive right of Indonesia
iron sand trading business acquired in September 2010 and further
post acquisition cashflow requirements of Indonesia Iron Mine
business.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had total assets of
HK$1,267,800,000 (2010: HK$694,403,000) which was financed
by current liabilities of HK$191,937,000 (2010: HK$246,309,000),
non-current liability of HK$229,980,000 (2010: HK$9,841,000),
non-controlling interests of approximately HK$259,041,000 (2010:
HK$nil) and shareholders’ equity of HK$586,842,000 (2010:
HK$438,253,000). The Group's current ratio as at 31 March 2011
was approximately 1.81 (2010: 1.20) and gearing ratio, representing
the total borrowings and amount due to a shareholder divided by
the shareholders’ equity was approximately 20.5% (2010: 19.54%).
The total outstanding borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2011 were denominated in Renminbi, about 50% (2010: 48%)
borrowings was interest-bearing with variable rates while interest of
the remaining balances was calculated on fixed interest rates.
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As at 31 March 2011,
amount of approximately HK$29,587,000 (2010: approximately

certain buildings with aggregate carrying

HK$31,050,000), plant and machinery amounting to approximately
HK$9,678,000 (2010: HK$23,872,000), land use rights amount
of approximately HK$4,108,000 (2010: HK$6,205,000) and
bank deposits amount of approximately HK$1,820,000 (2010:
HK$6,826,000) had been pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2011, the Group had no
material capital commitment and contingent liabilities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS
DURING THE YEAR

On 20 March 2011, the Group announced the disposal of one of its
pharmaceutical operation. The disposal was completed on 16 May
2011.

Save as disclosed herein, during the year under review, there
were no other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or
associates of the Company.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of significant subsequent events are set out in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN
EXCHANGE RATES

Most of the Group's assets, liabilities and business transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Renminbi and US Dollars which
have been relatively stable during the year ended 31 March 2011.
The Group was not exposed to material exchange risk and had not
employed any financial instruments for hedging purposes.
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Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and Analysis

TRBEHEEEENWR DN

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group has a total of approximately 767 employees in Hong
Kong, Indonesia and the PRC as at 31 March 2011. Remuneration
packages are generally structured according to market situations
and individual performance. Apart from the mandatory provident
fund and statutory retirement benefits, the Group also provided
medical benefits and sponsored employees in different training and

continuous education programs.
APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank our shareholders and business associates for their ongoing
support and extend our appreciation to our management team and
staff members for their contributions to our achievements in the

year.

By order of the Board
Chim Kim Lun, Ricky

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2011
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EETHE

The directors of the Company present their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated

financial statements.
RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
37.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2011 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of share options are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, a company cannot declare or pay a dividend,

or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(i) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(ii)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share

premium accounts.
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EETHE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The Company has deficit at 31 March 2011 which comprises
contributed surplus of approximately HK$180,030,000 less
accumulated losses of approximately HK$672,568,000. Accordingly,
the Company has no reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 March 2011.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2011,
aggregate amount of approximately HK$19,192,000 on the

the Group spent an

acquisition of property, plant and equipment for expansion and
improvement of the manufacturing facilities of its pharmaceutical
business and also disposed of certain property, plant and equipment
with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$1,160,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2011 are
set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ESERE

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2011
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky
(Chairman)
Mr. Chan Sung Wai
(Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Chan Hau Kong (suspended on 23 November 2010)

Mr. Wong King Lam, Joseph
Mr. Danny Sun (resigned on 17 September 2010)

Ms. Lee Yang (resigned on 17 September 2010)

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Tong Leung Sang (appointed on 19 November 2010)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Yiu Fai Ming
Mr. Zhang Xianlin
Mr. Tse Yuk Kong
Mr. Lum Pak Sum (appointed on 19 November 2010)

In accordance with Clauses 86 and 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Yiu Fai Ming, Mr. Zhang Xianlin, Mr. Tse Yuk Kong, Mr. Tong
Leung Sang and Mr. Lum Pak Sum will retire at the Annual General
Meeting. Each of Mr. Yiu Fai Ming, Mr. Zhang Xianlin, Mr. Tong
Leung Sang and Mr. Lum Pak Sum, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election as Director at the Annual General Meeting. Mr. Tse Yuk
Kong will not offer himself for re-election as Director.
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Directors’ Report

EETHE

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (CONTINUED)

The term of office of each of the independent and non-executive
directors is the period up to their retirement as required by the

Company’s Bye-laws.

None of the director being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

None of the directors, chief executives or their respective associates
of the Company had, as at 31 March 2011, any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV) of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”).

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in respect of the directors’ interests in
securities and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
at no time during the year ended 31 March 2011, was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other body

corporate.
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EETHE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011, so far as was known to the directors and
the chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other
than any director and chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
as recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange:

FTERRZE:

£

Number of

issued ordinary

RZT——F=A=+—HB BREERAEAR
FIZEZTRABMRM ATAL(RRF
ERMEERTEZTHRABRIN RARA R
I MARRAR D R A SOR B - MARE
M HERIIEXVEE2RFE3IN 2 HX
EHWE  HEEBEN AR R AREES M
ERPIE3B6IHRAFTE ZERMA XA
ERAVANGINSE RS

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share

capital of

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company

(Note 1)

R NN

BEZE BT ERITRAZ

RRERB g7 ZERHAE BB

(Ktat1)

Golden Mount Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 215,000,000 (L) 5.81%
Golden Mount Limited (#7:#2) E=mfEEA

Mr. Chim Pui Chung (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 215,000,000 (L) 5.81%

EEBEE (H72) N | NGl £

Mr. Yue Wai Keung Beneficial owner 270,000,000 (L) 7.30%
RUEREE (Hat2) BB A

Empire Bridge Assets Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 2,281,937,735 61.69%
B ER AR (MiE3) BB A

Tang Sze Wan (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 2,281,937,735 61.69%

WHE (HiE3)
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EETHE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(L) All the shares are long positions.

1. The percentages are calculated based on the total number of issued
shares of the Company of 3,698,745,758 Shares as at 31 March
2011.

2. Golden Mount Limited is solely owned by Mr. Chim Pui Chung, who
is the father of Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky, a Director.

3.

Empire Bridge Assets Limited (“Empire Bridge”), solely owned by
Ms. Tang Sze Wan, is the sole beneficial owner of HK$425,125,000
zero coupon convertible non-redeemable note due 2017 issued
on 29 September 2010 by the Company at a conversion price of
HK$0.1863 each (which entitle Empire Bridge to 2,281,937,735
Conversion Shares upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to
such convertible notes in full).

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified and is

not aware of any other person who had an interest or short position

in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in

the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2011.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales during the year ended 31 March 2011,
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised

approximately 20% of the Group's total sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year ended 31 March 2011,
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers comprised
approximately 33.6% of the Group’s total purchases while
the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was

approximately 10.9% of the Group's total purchases.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2011, did a director,
an associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company, which
to the knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, have an interest in any of the five

largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2011, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.
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EETHE

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided,

having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual

performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 March 2011.

AUDITORS

A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheung as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chim Kim Lun, Ricky
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2011
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HLB ok FH A
Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia
Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 37 to
139, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true BMRE ZEReMBEREREREBD B
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March BHRELENEEMAFHRE EEEN=
2011 and of the Group's loss and cash flows for the year then T——F=A=+—HZEBKRIE BE
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards BEEZBLEFEZBEERASRE T2
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure RREB ARTHED) BBEREL RRE -

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng BEEEstMmEHAR
Chartered Accountants 2 = AT
Certified Public Accountants BB FE DA

Hong Kong, 27 June 2011 BE ZE——FA=++H



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE=-ZT——F=A=+—HIEFE
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2011 2010
—2——F —TTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ok THET TAIT
Revenue A 7 157,929 135,320
Cost of sales $HE A (107,633) (81,557)
Gross profit EF 50,296 53,763
Other revenue H b Ug A 8 783 1,562
Other gains H bz 9 9,720 5,307
Distribution and selling expenses iR HE & A (38,001) (40,159)
Administrative expenses TR XX (30,878) (41,509)
Loss on early redemption of REELANER ZERE
promissory notes (298) (20,502)
Other expenses E 10 (13,707) (7,670)
Finance costs B & A AR 11 (23,184) (21,135)
Loss before taxation 7 Al ES 1B 12 (45,269) (70,343)
Taxation IR 15 - 63
Loss for the year REEEIE (45,269) (70,280)
Other comprehensive income, HZ2EB A BRE%
net of tax
Exchange differences on translating &GN EFREL 2
foreign operations IE W =% 4,899 1,439
Other comprehensive income RNEFHMEERA
for the year, net of tax B 4,899 1,439
Total comprehensive expenses TEEARZEAX
for the year (40,370) (68,841)
Loss attributable to: JE{GE1E
Owners of the Company FiN/NEIEZ ¥ =N (45,061) (70,280)
Non-controlling interest 1 I = (208) W
(45,269) (70,280)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
AEEE WS

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

2011 2010
—2——F —EFF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B #t FET FHET
Total comprehensive expenses EERE2EAY:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRAREE A (40,162) (68,841)
Non-controlling interest eI = (208) =
(40,370) (68,841)
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Loss per share TBkEE
— Basic and diluted —EARKEE 16 (1.39) (4.24)
All operations of the Group are classified as continuing operations. AEBZABEEW D EAIFEREER-

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated MEMt s A% S MBEHR 2z — 21 -
financial statements.
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At 31 March 2011 R=ZE——F=A=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Intangible assets
Mining right
Deposits for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Amount due from non-controlling
interest

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Amount due to a shareholder
Bank borrowings
Promissory notes

Liabilities directly associated with
assets classified as held for sale

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

ERBEE
W BE MR
BNEERE
BVEE
B2
BEME BEM
R BE

REBEE
Ea
B 5 RYRR R W E R
BNRE  ZE REAMEK
AR
& U SE 4% B A 2 2 RIR

REBEDEBRAFEARZY
BEE

EHEMRITER
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2010
—E-FF

HK$'000
TAET

126,610
5,986
27
260,015
4,984

397,622

23,844
61,512

138,069

577
6,826
65,953

296,781

296,781

55,358
21,185

3,000
72,810
983856

246,309

246,309
50,472

448,094



At 31 March 2011 R=ZT——F=A=+—H

Capital and reserves EAXRREE
Share capital [N
Reserves 1

Total equity R

Non-controlling interest FERER

Non-current liability kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE
Convertible notes AR =5

The consolidated financial statements on page 37 to 139 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27
June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Chim Kim Lun, Ricky
ERlE
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Notes
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30
33

2010

—E-FF

HK$'000
TAET

101,530
336,723

438,253

438,253

9,841

9,841

448,094

FITRI1E AV BREREAEETZRN
—E——F XA+ B RIRET

RATATRREZSHRE:

Mr. Chan Sung Wai
BRRIE
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

= N7 ﬁ*ﬁ
n‘/-_]_\ *E Z = mEm
For the year ended 31 Ma

2ER

rch 2011 HZ—

T——4ZH=+—HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

Annual Report 2011 &3

RDARREANES
PRC Attributable
statutory to non-
Share Share Special reserve  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve funds reserve losses Subtotal interest Total
HE FER
B R E BRlfE AELNES Bk ZiHR it ERER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THAL TEL TEL THAL FEL TEL TEL FEL
(note i) (note ii)
(Hrzti) (Hiatir)
At 1 April 2009 “2ZNEMA-A 70,572 497,831 92,926 3,286 24,735 (337,796) 351,554 = 351,554
Loss for the year MEEﬁ; - - - - - (70,280) (70,280) = (70,280)
Other comprehensive income AEREMRERA
for the year - - - - 1,439 - 1,439 - 1,439
Total comprehensive expenses AERBLERY
for the year - - - - 1439 (70,280) (68,841) - (68,841)
Issue of shares B Es 30,958 128,305 - - - - 159,263 - 159,263
Expenses incurred in connection with —~ BERHETESL 2ZHx
the issue of shares - (2,695) - - - - (2,695) (2,695)
Transfer to profit or loss on disposal of &M%« FiE R
property, plant and equipment #ARR = = = = (1,028) = (1,028) = (1,028)
At31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010 R=ZF-TF=A=+-BR
—“Z-TFMA-A 101,530 623,441 92,926 3,286 25,146 (408,076) 438,253 438,253
Loss for the year rEREER - - - - - (45,061) (45,061) (208) (45,269)
Other comprehensive income REREMRZERA
for the year - - - - 4,899 - 4,899 - 4,899
Total comprehensive expenses FERBEARNY
for the year - - - - 4,899 (45,061) (40,162) (208) (40,370)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-EHEAR - - - - - - - 259,249 259,249
Open offer RRRE 50,765 81,224 - - - - 131,989 - 131,989
Expenses incurred in connection BHARBEELIRR
with the open offer - (3,942) - - - - (3,942) - (3,942)
Conversion of convertible notes THRREEERARN
into shares 32,642 28,252 - - - - 60,894 - 60,894
Expenses incurred in connection with ~ BRI ARZEEAEL Y
the conversion of convertible notes 53 - (190) - - - - (190) - (190)
At 31 March 2011 R-B--%=A=t+-A 184,937 728,785 92,926 3,286 30,045 (453,137) 586,842 259,041 845,883

41



For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Notes:

0)

(if)

The special reserve of the Group represents the excess of the nominal
amount of the shares of the subsidiaries at the date of the group
reorganisation over the nominal amount of the shares issued by the

Company as consideration for the acquisition of the subsidiaries.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign
investment in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain two statutory
reserves, being a statutory reserve fund and an enterprise expansion
fund (collectively referred to as the "“PRC statutory reserve funds”),
which are non-distributable. The statutory surplus reserve fund may
be used to make up prior year losses incurred and, with approval from
relevant government authority, to increase capital. The enterprise
expansion fund, subject to approval by relevant government authority,

may also be used to increase capital.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

gz
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) 2 B A T (B H 7R 2 R4 7 W R P /B 1 )
ZREMBTZRNEEISRE

(i) BPEARKANBE ([FE])IHIREHE
ERRERZRE  ARBZHEMHER A
ARIMIBDEE R B 2R 2EER
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &HZ

—T——F=-fA=+—HULEE

Operating activities BB
Loss for the year NEEFIE
Adjustments for: N E= Pk

Taxation I8

Interest income on bank deposits RITE KA B A

Interest income on other H b sk IE )2 YA
receivable

Finance cost RPN

Depreciation of property, plant M- BWEREZETE
and equipment

Amortisation of intangible M EEEE
assets

Amortisation of prepaid lease T 78 & SR8 8
payments

(Gain)/loss on disposal HEWZE BMEMEREZ
of property, plant and (Wez) /B8
equipment

Fair value change on financial KERREAFEARZ
assets at fair value through MBEEZATE
profit or loss bk

Fair value change on CIE: Y &5
convertible notes REEES)

Written-off of inventory BTEEZ MR

Reversal of impairment loss ME P RWARTER
recognised in respect of (B &5 15 4 o)
trade receivables

Provision for impairment loss B S REKERR 2
on trade receivables BB B R AR

Loss on early redemption of
promissory notes

Provision for impairment loss
on mining right

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Decrease in inventories

(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills
receivables

Decrease in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and
bills payables

Increase in other payables and
accruals

Increase in amount due from
non-controlling interest

(Decrease)/increase in amount due
to a shareholder

Cash generated from operations

The PRC enterprise income tax
refund

The PRC enterprise income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

%gg@%ﬁ%ﬁz
R R B

EEESEER 2
2B RE

FE R

B 5 R R & W E &

) 1

ERRIE - Ee Kk
HJ@FEWHE/TA/HZ’J\

B RNERRENEE
OB 9)/ij]l]

—~

5&

H SRR &
FEFTE A1 hn

JE LS FE 122 R 25 SR TR S AN
fE {1 A% 3R B IE
(/Jﬁé\)/ibu
K@%E%szfﬁi
FRCEMETHRLD
B BEEEMER
RELEEH IS FEE
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2010
—F-2F

HK$'000
TAET
(70,280)

(63)
(539)

(843)
21,135

18,538
39

219

11,503
(362)
351_
(4,782)

7,670

20,502

3,088
1,399

(53)
33,126
40,179

3,239

3,000
83,978

759
(3,128)

81,609



For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Investing activities REFH

Interest received B U F 2

Purchase of property, plat and ﬁﬁ/\%% W E &%
equipment

(Increase)/decrease in deposits HUWEBEE  HE Kk
paid for acquisition of property, BB H2IES
plant and equipment (), m

Proceeds from disposal of t|j’§%¥ = &
property, plant and equipment FBFT1E RIE

Net cash (outflow)/inflow on WEEMHB AR 2
acquisition of subsidiaries Be (Rd)/HAEE

Decrease in pledged bank deposits & R 1717 ZUR 2

Net cash used in investing activities FREREEH 2B & F5E

Financing activities Rl & T B
Interest paid B ALE
New bank borrowings raised g fEfﬂ%
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBRTEER
Net proceeds from issue of share BITRMDATIEERIEFE
Redemption of promissory notes BBl H IR

Net cash used in financing activities FBREEEEH 2H & FE
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and R4 NIBEZEW 2

cash equivalents #n O ) F 8

Cash and cash equivalents at REVNzREeRRSEEY
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEE BB R BB B
changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of REXRZIRE MBS HEY
the year

Analysis of the balances of ReRRESZEEYZ
cash and cash equivalents EeRD AT
Bank balances and cash WITHEB MRS
Bank balances and cash AADEARBIEHEERE
included in assets classified ZIRTHEBR RIS

as held for sale

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

2010
—E-FF

HK$'000
TAET

1,382

(38,707)

5,044
35

3
4,512

(27,731)

(6,696)
77,361
(109,052)
156,568
(130,000)

(11,819)

42,059
23,958

(64)

65,953

65,953

65,953

B ZHERZETEa BRI — B0



For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Asia Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. Its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information of its
annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company, while its
subsidiaries (hereinafter the Company and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical products in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and engaged in
iron ore exploration, exploitation and trading operation in
Mongolia and Indonesia.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB")
which is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the group entities operate. For the purpose of
presenting the consolidated financial statements, Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$") is used as the presentation currency because
the Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange in
Hong Kong.

Annual Report 2011 &3

SHERERERAR ([AAF)E
ERERMRTATNEERAT &
BRHEEEBAZBHERA (B
SFr)) b e AR AN ERRE
TR AR EE R ATE
KR -

ARFAA—HRARBAT MK E
AR (FXAD R EN B A G
BIARE])BEEREEARLAE
(TehE ) AR RHE RS - DARR
g REVEH BMBE BR  FRRE
B8 -

ARBZPNEEBRARB(TAR
1) NEEEREEXBHETIEL
BRRECEW - SLEJGEEMBHRERM
5 HERARRZBNREABM L
m-ET (BT H2NEE-



In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations (“new
HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") which are or have become

effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 27 (Revised
2008)

HKAS 28 (Revised
2008)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17

HK-Int 5

The directors anticipate that the application of the other new
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Improvements to HKFRSs —
amendments to HKFRS 5

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
Investments in Associates

Classification of Rights Issues

Eligible Hedged Items

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
Additional Exemptions for First-time

Adopters
Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions
Business Combinations

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

RAFE AEBDERATERRK
AR ZBBEGAMAE ([FE

SR RE ) B 2 AT RAEERT £
“M@ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

All) e

BEMBRSER
(87)

BANBREER
(&3T)
EHOH RS
(ZZEN\FEEF
BB g HERF28%
(ZZZN\EHE
BRI EAEN
(&3T)
BB GHERE39%
(&3T)
BEMHREER
F15 (8E3)
BANBREER
F15% (3])
EBUHREER
$25% (B3])
BB REER
F3% (£E3)
Bk (ERMBRE
2EZE®)
2B
BE-RBEH

BRNHRE LA MK
- BB BREEAEH
ZEF]

“EENFRANBREE
L

FARBUMBER

%

BERAZRE

&
58
=
b

RERHAIER
BARRERHHREER
BERRME RIS
SENR S AEGURD XA
L5
ZBAH
MEEADRFREEE
RHERRL 2T -ERAHE

RREXERRF THE
RLNE

E=EEARAEMHIREYERS

%

o

ZAK T EHEAMBHRRELEX



Annual Report 2011 &3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been

s ,%M é%zﬁ‘%?ﬁﬁ
| ([ & R &5

I \DI|
N
o HPH
I8 i
>T’ma++

(3

REE B IR F PR A AT B 28 40 i
REBZHFT RABIERTER  EFT 2

issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 12
(Amendments)
HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised
2011)

HKAS 28 (Revised
2011)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 7
(Amendments)
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010’

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets®

Related Party Disclosures?

Separate Financial Statements®

Investments in Associates and Joint

Ventures®

Limited Exemption from Comparative
HKFRS 7 — Disclosures for First-
time Adopters?

Severe Hyperinflation and Removal
of Fixed Dates for First-time
Adopters?

Disclosures — Transfers of Financial
Assets?

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial Statements?®

Joint Arrangements?®

B BREER —TERRUBR
(3T) SRR 7 B
BEGHENENS BEHE: KEAHE
(&3T) BES
ERGEREUE BEALEE
(&53])
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

2.

48

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities®
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement?®
HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit of Defined
(Amendment) Benefit Asset, Minimum

Funding Requirements and their
Interaction?

HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments?

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or
1 January 2011, as appropriate

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012

G Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in November
2010) adds requirements for financial liabilities and for
derecognition.

The standard requires all recognised financial assets that
are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investment
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost. All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 will affect
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets.

In relation of financial liabilities, the significant change relates
to financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value
through profit or loss. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial
liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the
presentation of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Previously, under
HKAS 39, the entire amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or
loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier
application permitted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

The amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfer of Financial
Assets increase the disclosure requirements for transactions
involving transfers of financial assets. These amendments
are intended to provide greater transparency around risk
exposures when a financial asset is transferred but the
transferor retains some level of continuing exposure in the
asset. The amendments also require disclosures when transfers
of financial assets are not evenly distributed throughout the

period.

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009)
modifies the definition of a related party and simplifies

disclosures for government-related entities.

The disclosure exemptions introduced in HKAS 24 (as revised
in 2009) do not affect the Group because the Group is not
a government-related entity. However, disclosures regarding
related party transactions and balances in these consolidated
financial statements may be affected when the revised version
of the standard is applied in future accounting periods because
some counterparties that did not previously meet the definition
of a related party may come within the scope of the standard.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements builds on
existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the
determining factor in whether an entity should be included
within the consolidated financial statements of the parent
company. The standard provides additional guidance to assist
in the determination of control where this is difficult to assess.
This standard replaces HK(SIC)-12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities and replaces parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated

and Separate Financial Statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements provides for a more realistic
reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the rights and
obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form (as
is currently the case). The standard addresses inconsistencies
in the reporting of joint arrangements by requiring a single
method to account for interests in jointly controlled entities.
HKFRS 11 supersedes HKAS 31 /nterests in Joint Ventures
and HK(SIC)-13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-monetary
Contributions by Venturers.

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities is a new
and comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements
for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint
arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other

off balance sheet vehicles.

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement improves consistency and
reduces complexity by providing, for the first time, a precise
definition of fair value and a single source of fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across
HKFRSs. The requirements do not extend the use of fair
value accounting, but provide guidance on how it should be
applied where its use is already required or permitted by other
standards within HKFRSs.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact

on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including special
purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or
up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the relevant conditions for
recognition were generally recognised at their fair values at the

acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of
the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately

in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree is initially
measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are

delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying

amount.

Rental receivable under operating leases are recognised and
credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less subsequent depreciation and
any identified impairment loss at the end of the reporting
period.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of other property,
plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives after
considering their estimated residual values, using the straight-

line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 4%
Furniture, fixtures and
20% - 25%
20% - 50%
12'2% - 30%
6%/3% — 30%

office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles

Plant and machinery

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the year in which the

item is derecognised.

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. The mining right is amortised using
the unit-of-production method based on the total proven and
probable mineral reserves, which is reviewed at least at each

end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for mining right at each reporting date. Mining
right is tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present values of those cash flows.

The Group’s management has determined the estimated useful
lives of its mining rights based on the proven and probable
mineral reserves. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group will be able to continuously renew
the mining right and the business license of respective mining
subsidiary at minimal charges. Accordingly, the Group has
used the proven and probable mineral reserves as a basis for
estimation of the useful life of its mining right.

Amortisation rate is determined based on estimated proven
and probable mineral reserve quantities with reference to the
independent technical assessment report. The capitalized costs
of the mining right are amortised using the unit-of-production
method. Any change to the estimated proven and probable
mineral reserves will affect the amortisation charge of the
mining right.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Proven and probable mineral reserve estimates are updated
at regular basis taking into account production and technical
information about the mines. In addition, as prices and cost
levels change from year to year, the estimate of proven
and probable mineral reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes and
is reflected on a prospective basis in relation to amortization

rate.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental

expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land use rights

Interest in leasehold land use rights is accounted for as prepaid
lease payment and is amortised over the lease term on a

straight-line basis.

The financial statements of each group entity are presented in
the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose
of the consolidated financial statements, the results and
financial position of each entity are expressed in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the presentation currency for the consolidated

financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the

rates prevailing at that date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities
with functional currency other than HKD are translated into
the presentation currency (i.e. HKD) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the
translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is

disposed of.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
(state-managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme) are charged as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme, the assets of

which are held in separate trustee administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers’
contributions subject to a cap monthly relevant income of
HK$20,000. The Group's contributions to the scheme are
expensed as incurred are vested in accordance with the
scheme’s vesting scales. Where employees leave the scheme
prior to the full vesting of the employer’'s contributions,
the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the

contributions payable by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Share options scheme

The Company operates a share options scheme for the
purpose of recognition of significant contribution of and
for the provision of incentives to any directors, employees
(whether full-time or part-time), consultants, customers,
suppliers, agents, partners or advisors of or contractors
to the Group or affiliates. The fair value of share options
granted to employee is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options, the
total estimated fair value of share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the

options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative
fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised
as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
share options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company's shares. The equity amount is recognised in
the capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account) or the option

expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly
to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis

over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income when the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is recognised only if it is anticipated
that the development costs incurred on a clearly-defined
project will be recovered through future commercial activity.
The resultant asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over
its useful life, and carried at cost less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same

basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

At each end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as

an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the

sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions
are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, and are discounted to present value where the effect is

material.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as at
FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held for trading or It is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

in the near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains
or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains” line item in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At each end of the reporting period subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
and other receivables, bank balances and cash and loans to
an associate) are carried at amortised cost using the effective

interest method, less any identified impairment losses.

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment
at each end of the reporting period. Loans and receivables are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition,

the estimated future cash flows have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at

the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment

not been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of

financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Financial liabilities

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where

appropriate, a shorter period.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,

using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both
the conversion option components are classified separately
into respective items on initial recognition. A conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s

own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
con-convertible debts. In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible notes is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in equity until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in capital reserve will be transferred to share premium).
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date,
the balance stated in capital reserve will be released to the
retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

upon conversion or expiration of the option.

For the convertible note issued in connection to the acquisition
of assets and liabilities through acquisition of subsidiary, the
conversion option component is recognised at fair value and
included in equity, taking into account that the counterparty
must forfeit the right to received cash in order to receive
equity instrument. For other convertible notes, the difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible
notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for the holder to covert the

notes into equity, is included in equity (capital reserve).
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial

positions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group.
It can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is
not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain,

an asset is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

A party considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in
the Group that gives it significant influence over the

Group; (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any

individual referred to in (a) or (d);

(f)  the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-controlled
or significantly influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or

indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment, benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is related party of the Group.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between

related parties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE=-T——F=A=+—HIEFE

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Note 3 describes that depreciation is provided to write
off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives, using straight-line method. The
estimation of useful lives of the depreciable assets is based
on the experience of the Group, and useful lives are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period based on changes in

circumstances.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful
lives of property, plant and equipment in order to determine
the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The
useful lives are estimated at the time the asset is acquired
based on historical experience, the expected usage, wear and
tear of the assets, as well as technical obsolescence arising
from changes in the market demands or service output
of the assets. The Group also performs annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continued to
be valid. The Group tests annually whether the assets have
suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset
or a cash generating unit is determined based on value-in-
use calculations which require the use of assumptions and
estimates.

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the

period in which such determination is made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
and selling goods of similar nature. It could change significant
as a result of change in market condition. Management will

reassess the estimations at the end of the reporting period.

The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered
any impairment. The recoverable amount an asset or a
cash generating unit is determined based on value-in-
use calculations which require the use of assumptions and

estimates.

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimation of future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. The Group’s maximum exposure to financial
loss due to failure to discharge an obligation by the debtors is
the carrying amount of trade and other receivables as stated in

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Determine whether intangible assets are impaired requires
estimation of the value in use, The value in use calculation
requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise form the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount

rate in order to calculate the present value.

The carrying amount of intangible assets at the end of the
reporting period was approximately HK$576,334,000 (2010:
HK$27,000) and no impairment loss was recognised during the

year.

The Group tests annually whether mining right has suffered
any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy
stated above. The recoverable amount of mining right has

been determined based on discounted cash flow method.

The carrying amount of mining right at the end of the
reporting period was approximately HK$249,600,000 (2010:
HK$260,015,000) and impairment loss of approximately
HK$10,415,000 (2010: Nil) during the year. Details of the
impairment loss calculation are provided in note 20.

On the date of issue of convertible notes, the fair value
is determined using a discount rate determined by an
independent professional valuer to the Group with reference
to market information; and this amount is carried as a long
term liability at fair value at the end of the reporting period in

accordance with the accounting policy stated above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt,
which includes the amount due to a shareholder and
bank borrowings disclosed in notes 29 and 30 and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising

issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on an on-going basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through new shares issues, as well as the issue

of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:

Total debt # BEB

Shareholders’ equity PR R 2

Gearing ratio BEL=E

& Total debts comprises amount due to a shareholder and

bank borrowings (including the amount comprised in
liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held
for sale) as detailed in notes 26, 29 and 30 respectively.
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5B.

5C.

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BMETHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Categories of financial instruments 5B. Bt T A5l
2011 2010
—E——f —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiE T T T
Financial assets HHEEE
Financial assets at fair value KIETEAFEARZ
through profit or loss MBEEE 728 577
Loans and receivables B R ERIE
(including cash and (BIERESNBSEEY)
cash equivalents) 80,450 256,509
Financial liabilities HEEE
Amortised cost B PR AN 191,938 155,679
Promissory notes S - 93,956
Convertible notes Gl & 229,980 -
Financial risk management objectives and 5C. BEREEEEREER

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and bills receivables, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, amount due from non-controlling interest,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, and
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement
in foreign currency exchange rate which will affect the
Group's financial results and its cash flows. The Group's
operations are mainly in the PRC other than Hong
Kong, and the sales and purchases transactions are
conducted using RMB, as such the foreign currency risk
is minimal. The Group currently has not entered into any
contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. However, the
management monitors foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 30
for details) and bank deposits (see note 25 for details).
It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest
rate risk. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider restructure the
Group's credit facilities should the need arise.
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Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark
Lending Rates (“RBLR"”) arising from the Group's RMB

denominated borrowings.

Interest rate risk — Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate
bank borrowings and bank deposits at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming bank
balances and the amount of liability outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were held/outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 would increase/
decrease by HK$158,000 (2010: increase/decrease by
HK$84,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its bank borrowings and
bank deposits.
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Credit risk

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's

credit risk is reduced.

In relation to trade receivables, the Group’s concentration
of credit risk by geographical locations is primarily in
the PRC. Other than that, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk as trade

receivables consist of a large number of customers.
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Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables, credit risk is concentrated in
three counterparties in the PRC in relation to amount
receivable on disposal of associates as disclosed in note
23.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because majority
of the counterparties are either banks of high credit

quality in Hong Kong or state-owned banks in the PRC.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with the relevant covenants.
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5.

86

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

BB TA (&)

5C. Financial risk management objectives and 5C. BiREMREREBERBXK
policies (Continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B EEE (E)
Liquidity table B F
The following tables detail the Group's remaining TRANAEEIFTERBKAE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial ZHERE RPN @RS
liabilities which are included in the maturity analysis EHERAEEEREABABRER
provided internally to the key management personnel for ZEBARRASN HEERRY
the purpose of managing liquidity risk. The tables have MER TRDIBENRAEEA
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of XN BEEzxE B HZY
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which BRAEZRMBERSTERE -
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes XHPAKERENEREAESHE R
both interest and principal cash flows. =
Weighted Total
average Total carrying
effective Within undiscounted amount
interest rate 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years  Over 5 year cash flows  at year end
mEFH KERRS EXRE
ERA=R 15/ 1228 1B85% SENE RELE aE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TR TR FAL FAL
2011 —E--F
Trade payables EAEMNER - 13,709 - - - 13,709 13,709
Other payables Efh R R R
and accruals &R - 28,719 - - - 28,719 28,719
Bank borrowings BITER 6.09 70,503 - - - 70,503 68,833
Convertible notes ~ ATAREE 9.91 - - - 425,125 425,125 229,980
112,931 - - 425,125 538,056 341,241
2010 “E-Zf
Trade and bills BHRARHNR
payables S - 55,358 - - - 55,358 55,358
Other payables and ~ EtEFEEHAR
accruals &R - 14,671 - - - 14,671 14,671
Amount due to -2 RRFE
a shareholder - 3,000 - - - 3,000 3,000
Bank horrowings BAEH 6.75 75,964 10,245 - - 86,209 82,651
Promissory notes RAEE 17.00 100,000 - - - 100,000 93,956
248,993 10,245 - - 259,238 249,636
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Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk and return profiles. The
Group's equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities quoted on the Stock Exchange. In addition, the
management monitors the price risk and will consider

hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Other price risk — Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the

reporting date.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, the Group’s
profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$73,000 (2010: increase/
decrease by approximately HK$58,000). This is mainly
due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.
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5.

88

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

5D. Fair value

BB TA (&)

D. A¥{E&E

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

are determined as follows:

. the fair value of financial assets with standard terms

and conditions and traded on active liquid markets

are determined with reference to quoted market bid

prices; and

° the fair value of other financial assets and

financial liabilities are determined in accordance

with generally accepted pricing models based on

discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates

from observable current market transactions as

input.

Except as detailed in the following table, management

consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and

financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial

statements approximate to their fair values:

MHEERNGAR, AT EE
EHEMT :

o REBEMERMMEERE RN
ERMATISE RS L MBE
EZAFELIZETERE
BE: M

s HMWBEEMBABZ
RNFEZAREERE A
AAE AT 5 R 5 ERF
RERBABETRRARS
MEDITERE -

Br SR P IN - IR RS B
BERMBRERGAEMBRE
NeREEREEAFERE

At 31 March 2011 At 31 March 2010
R=—Z-—%=A=+-H RZZ—ZF=A=1+—H
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
REE AYE FHEE ATE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAET THET THAT
Financial liabilities HBaRE
Convertible notes RREE
(note j) (Hizti) 229,980 229,980 = =
Promissory notes ARRE
(note i) (Hiitii) - - 93,956 95,985
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Notes:

(i) The fair value of the outstanding convertible notes is
determined assuming conversion on 28 September 2017
and using a 9.91% interest rate.

(i) The fair value of the promissory notes is determined
assuming redemption on 2 September 2010 and using a

10% interest rate.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based

on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for the same
instrument (i.e., without modification or
repackaging);

Level 2: quoted prices in active markets for similar
assets or liabilities or other valuation
techniques for which all significant inputs are
based on observable market data; and

Level 3: valuation techniques for which any significant
input are not bade on observable market data.

Wit -
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REEHBRRENBRZA
FEHE (&)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

TRERERNTED REIFFE D
BATVELEZEMIADN:

The following table show an analysis of financial

instruments recorded at fair value by the fair value

hierarchy:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—R EZR B At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TABL THBT FTAEL THBL
As at 31 March 2011 RZB-——-F
=A=t-A
Financial assets at fair value EHEZEAFEARZ
through profit or loss BHEE
Convertible notes RREE
As at 31 March 2010 RZZE-ZF
ZA=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value FEZHZATFEARZ
through profit or loss MBEE 577 = - 577

For reconciliation of fair value of convertible notes,

please refer to note 33.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the
both years.

There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 in the both

years.

MRABMEBERBREZ A FEHEM
BRI EEER

RMEFERAF -—FRE_HZ
e I 8 33

RREFEAL EEREAE =R
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The Group’s operating segments, based on information
reported to the chief operating decision maker (the directors
of the Company) for the purpose of resource allocation and

performance assessment are presented into two segments.

For manufacturing and sale of pharmaceutical products
operations, the chief operating decision maker regularly
reviews the performance of the sales revenue from
pharmaceutical products. These operations have been
aggregated into a single operating segment and named
“Manufacturing and sales of pharmaceutical products”.

For iron ore exploration and exploitation operations, the chief
operating decision maker regularly reviews the performance
of the iron ore operation in Mongolia. During the year, the
Group has acquired a subsidiary in Indonesia which holds an
exclusive right to manage, refine and sell the iron sand at the
respective iron mine area hold by the non-controlling interest
of the subsidiary. These operations have been aggregated into
a single operating segment and named “Iron ore exploration,
exploitation and trading operations”.
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92

SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results

“E—F=A=+—HLEFE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March

Manufacturing and sales of
pharmaceutical products

6. 7

pa

UTRAKERZARED

DTEBRAREFEE

RR 2D

BE=

Iron ore exploration,
exploitation and
trading operations

RER (F)

B=+—HLEE

BZWAR

Consolidation

EERBEER HRHR BRRESEE &e
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“B--% —Z2-%F =t R —Z-%F =g—-% “Z-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR T THR TR THEL TR
Segment revenue: FEWA:
Sales to external customers HNPERPHEE 157,929 135,320 - - 157,929 135,320
Total revenue EEUON 157,929 135,320 - = 157,929 135,320
Segment results PEEE (9.974) (12,392) (2,075) (4,884) (12,049) (17,276)
Unallocated corporate income RABLERAREX
and expenses
Other revenue ELON 783 1,562
Other gains ol 5,709 4,945
Other expenses e 5T (13,707) (7,670)
Fair value change on financial assets ~ EEREAFEARZ
at fair value through profit or loss HBAEZ
ATERE 151 362
Fair value change on convertible notes  AJARZE 2
ATEEE 3,860 -
Central administration costs RRTEHRA (6,534) (10,629)
Loss on redemption of BEALERZEE
promissory notes (298) (20,502)
Finance costs BERK (23,184) (21,135)
Loss before taxation BRH AR (45,269) (70,343)
Taxation B - 63
Loss for the year FEESR (45,269) (70,280)
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6.

B I B AR

—T——F=-fA=+—BHLEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during
the year.

Segment results represent the loss suffered by each segment
without allocation of other revenue, other gains, other
expenses, fair value change on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, fair value change on convertible
notes, central administration costs, loss on early redemption
of promissory notes, finance costs and taxation. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by operating segments:

Manufacturing and sales of

pharmaceutical products

AN

THEER (&)

DEBRAREE (&)

A EHEZWATRRBINEES 2K
A FRALEDFEREZHE -

PEEERZEIOEMEXZEE
BRD B E A YA - B b U A - H th 73
XCREBRBRAFTEARZMBEEZ
ANTFEES ATBRRERZAFESE
B hRITEAA  REBELOANRE
ZER BEKRARBE - WTIRER
LERREERITE EHEELETER

DR D ERBEFE -

UTHAASEEERABREE

S z2oM:

Iron ore exploration,
exploitation and
trading operation

/7k
aNESE|

Consolidation

EERBEER HRBR HRREREE R
At 31 March At 31 March At 31 March At 31 March At 31 March At 31 March
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
R=Z——F RZZ-ZTF R-F-——-F RZF-ZF H-Z--F WNZT-ZF
=A=+—-H =ZA=+—-HB =ZA=+—-A =ZA=+—-H =ZA=+-H =A=+—-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET TER THT TET FHT
ASSETS &E
Segment assets PEEE 290,383 269,162 834,803 261,481 1,125,186 530,643
Unallocated corporate assets APBEXEE 142,614 163,760
1,267,800 694,403
LIABILITIES af&
Segment liabilities ARERE (186,254) (155,643) (4,480) (94,936) (190,734) (250,579)
Unallocated corporate APBOEEE
liabilities (231,183) (5,571)
(421,917) (256,150)
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For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following basis:

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
unallocated corporate assets (mainly include property, plant
and equipment, cash and bank balances that are used by the
investment holding companies and other receivables that are
receivable by the investment holding companies).

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
convertible notes and unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly
include other payables and accruals borne by the investment
holding companies).

REHEDBERARDEROELERZE
B AEBEZSRITREEEEREN
BAHmENBCEE BEMRAE
DA it 7 2
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Other segment information

Manufacturing and sales of

—T——F=-fA=+—BHLEE

Iron ore exploration,
exploitation and

pharmaceutical products trading operation Other corporate entities Total
EERHEER EROR WAREAEE At EBE BE
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E--% Z%-Tf -E--% ZT-%F C-T--% ZT-TF -T--% ZT-%%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL Tir TARL T TR TAT TAT Tr
Additions to property, plant &A% - BE RSB
and equipment 18,250 38,573 748 119 194 15 19,192 38,707
Depreciation of property, n% BERZERE
plant and equipment 20,869 18,162 279 82 23 294 21,17 18,538
Amortisation of prepaid lease T H & AR
payments 229 219 - - - - 229 219
Amortisation of intangible B EERH
assets 28 39 - - - - 28 39
Provision for impairment loss & 5 BIRERH 2 FIfE/S
on trade receivables BEE 3,292 7,670 - - - - 3,292 7,670
Provision for impairment loss ~ FHEZ REFERE
on mining right - - 10,415 - - - 10,415 -
Geographical information ith & &

The Group operates in four principal geographical areas — the

PRC, Hong Kong, Mongolia and Indonesia.

The Group's revenue generated from external customers
during the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010 were

generated in the PRC.

B KA RERE-

AEBENEXr2HELE-—PEH &

BE_T——FR_FT-—FF=H
=t+—HILFE- K%l%@@l\ﬁﬁ%’:ﬁ
ZWARPBIESE -

95



Asia Resources Holdings Limited & RZERER D =

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n\/-_]_\

B IR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

6.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s information about its non-current assets by

geographical location are detailed below:

DHEER (&)

wEEHR (%)

AREULEG B8R 2 HRDEE
BRI T

Non-current assets

FRBEE

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TE T FE T
PRC 1 87,712 137,238
Hong Kong BE 207 36
Mongolia ES 250,129 260,348
Indonesia e 582,049 -
920,097 397,622

Information about major customers FEEFER

Included in revenue arising from sales of pharmaceutical
products of approximately HK$157,929,000 (2010:
approximately of HK$135,320,000), no single customers
contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for both
2011 and 2010.

REVENUE

Revenue, which is stated net of value added tax and other
sales taxes and returns, represents amounts invoiced to
customers for sales of pharmaceutical products during the
years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

REZEmEE 2 W ALI57,929,000
B (ZZ —ZF : 49135,320,000%8
) UWEE-ZXFAAEER_FT
——FRZT-TFZRATEIEI0%
IA E o

A

WATTRBE-FT——FR_F—
FZA=+T-"RLFEREEPHE
EnfBRgERMEMEERRESR
BZBEREE-
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8. OTHER REVENUE 8. HMWA
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Interest income on bank deposits RIT 17 5CF B U A 199 539
Interest income on other receivables Eﬁﬂﬁﬁqﬂlﬁﬁ KA B A - 843
199 1,382
Rental income He WA 12 11
Dividend income form financial asset 4B ZHIZAFEAERZ
at fair value through profit or loss WBEEZREWA 51 38
Sundry income FIFIA 521 131
783 1,562
9. OTHER GAINS 9. Hihlliz=
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Reversal of impairment loss B S EKER R EBERED
on trade receivables 5,509 4,782
Fair value change on financial assets & EmEAFEARZ
at fair value through profit or loss MBEELNTEEY 151 362
Fair value change on convertible notes A # J§ = # ~ A F{H &
(note) (Htz) 3,860 -
Gains on disposal of property, HEWE - HEREHE WS
plant and equipment 200 163
9,720 5,307

Note:

Included in fair value change on convertible notes, amount of
approximately HK$2,574,000 was the realised gain upon the
conversion of convertible notes.

Hat

AMBEREBEZ AFEEZHEENEHR TR

& 32 18 £92,574,00058

o

S 2 BRRK
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10.OTHER EXPENSES

11.

98

10. H b fi X

2011 2010
—2——fF —E2—FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Provision for impairment loss PRUERE 2 BB B
on mining right 10,415 -
Provision for impairment loss B 2 REWRFRESEEE
on trade receivables 3,292 7,670
13,707 7,670
= 3k
FINANCE COSTS 1. BE A
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F& T FAT
Interest on bank loans wholly ERAEFANBEEEL
repayable within five years RITE A E 6,673 6,696
Imputed interest on promissory notes %R%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ% 5,147 14,439
Imputed interest on convertible notes  AJ AR ZE R HE F| 8 11,364 =
23,184 21,135
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

12.LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 12.BRFi BT E 18

2011 2010
—B——fF —E-ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) EF5Me (Hat13) 943 548
Other staff costs Hih 8 TR A 21,629 17,058
Other staff’s retirement benefits H 8T 7 RKER T EIE K
scheme contributions 3,149 2,977
Total salaries ez et 25,721 20,583
Depreciation of property, plant and ME WERZETE
equipment 21,171 18,538
Amortisation of intangible assets EAEERE (GTA
(included in administrative THRAZA)
expenses) 28 39
Amortisation of prepaid lease T8 FH & SR IE 5
payments 229 219
Total depreciation and amortisation W& MR 21,428 18,796
Auditors’ remuneration ZEKED B 380 380
Minimum lease payments under HEMHOT 2 HEME S/ HK
operating leases 500 868
Cost of inventory recognised WRRAX 2 FEKAR
as an expense 105,185 73,585
Written off of inventories 78 2 MO - 351
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

13.DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 13.E558 =
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were ENSRENEMNES 2SN T
as follow:
Retirement
Salaries and benefits scheme
Directors' fees other benefits contributions Total
EzHd FeRHMER BHRBRAEER fam
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

“8--Ff -F-%F -R--F% _B-%F “F--f -"F-%F -3--F _F-%fF
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TAR TAT TER TAT TATL TAL TARL TAT

Executive directors: HES:

Mr. Chim Kim Lun , Ricky ERlERE - - - - - - - -

Mr. Chan Sung Wai REBEE - - - - - - - -

Mr. Chan Hau Kong RE % %4 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Wong King Lam, Joseph ~ ERHREE 325 156 - - 12 6 337 162

Mr. Danny Sun (note j) Danny Sunft £ (#7#i) - = - = - = -

Ms. Lee Yang (note /) Lee YangZ £ (#1i#i) 166 56 - - - - 166 56
491 212 - - 12 6 503 218

Non-executive director: FafTES:

Mr. Tong Leung Sang (note /i) 5 =5 4 (Hfatii) 55 = - = - = 55 =

Independent BUFHTES:

non-executive directors:

Mr. Yiu Fai Ming ThIERR T £ 150 150 - - - - 150 150

Mr. Tse Yuk Kong HAWIRE 30 30 - - - - 30 30

Mr. Zhang Xianlin REMLE 150 150 - - - - 150 150

Mr. Lum Pak Sum (note i) WRAREE (i) 55 - - - - = 55 =
385 330 - - - - 385 330
931 542 - - 12 6 943 548

Notes: Kt it -

() Mr. Danny Sun and Ms. Lee Yang resigned on 17 September () Danny Sunft4 Klee YangZ =B R

2010. —E-TFEAATEARE-
(i) Mr. Tong Leung Sang and Mr. Lum Pak Sum were appointed on (i) HEELEERMEREEARS
19 November 2010. BEE+—ATNBEEZRE-

During the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, no RBE_ZT—— KT —ZTF=H

remunerations were paid by the Group to the directors as =+ —HIEFE AEEMESZNTE

an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as EMSIEREEMAS R IMARE B

compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has ZREABBRAE REE_Z—F

waived any emoluments during the years ended 31 March ;F—E—ZEF=A=+—HIEFE #

2011 and 2010. BEEWETAHHN-

100



Annual Report 2011 &%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

14.EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

15.

The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
for the year included one (2010: two) executive directors of
the Company, whose emoluments are included in note 13

above. The aggregate emoluments of the remaining four

14. EEME

AEEAERBFALL M BRDIE
ARA—F(ZF—FF ME)NT
¥ AMSHFERN LXK K
BUE(ZT—FE ZR)EEFA

(2010: three) highest paid individuals are as follows: TMeBEBEOT
2011 2010
—F——fF —E—FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Salaries and other benefits ﬁ‘i\&,ﬁ\{‘@%ﬂ 1,938 695

Retirement benefits scheme RIRE R B3R

contributions 63 22
2,001 717

Their emoluments were all within HK$1,000,000.

%% 2 M€ 971,000,000/ 7T A A °

TAXATION 15. %18
2011 2010
—B——fF —E—FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Current tax BVEAR 18
The PRC enterprise income tax refund A EI{> 2 FTS R E] - 759
Under provision of the PRC enterprise iR 1T F & B (b E TS
income tax in prior years TREAE - (696)
Tax credit for the year REFEHBEER - 63
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group’s operations in
Hong Kong had no assessable profit for the year.

Subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the PRC enterprise
income tax at 25% for the years ended 31 March 2011 and
2010.

Subsidiary in Mongolia is subject to corporate income tax at
10% for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

Subsidiary in Indonesia is subject to corporate income tax at
25% for the year ended 31 March 2011.

Taxation for the years are reconciled to the loss before taxation
as follows:

B A5 A 5 18

Loss before taxation

Tax at the applicable income tax rate  #ZERAAMTBHRMRETE 2 FHE
Tax effect of expenses not deductible FEFHHASZ 2 FHBETZE

for tax purposes

\

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purposes

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FREFER 2 FHEEIE 2

HETE
Under provision in respect of PRC BEFERBTBEFIE
tax in prior year 2R RAE

The PRC enterprise income tax refund B HFT5HER L

Tax effect of utilisation of tax lossess &) 5 Al & F 32
previously not recognised HEBECHESE

Tax effects of other deductible
temporary differences not BMoMBETE
recognised

AEEREBEERR

Tax credit for the year

BERBRBRAZHBLE

1) AR e R 2 Lt BT A1 B B B

MR AEBERES 2 EHRERLE
MR BORF - MR 5 A B 75 1R
RALEBFIG B L B -

BE-_FE——FR-F—BF=A

=t—BLEFE TEZHBARAR
25% BN FBERRMAEH -

HE_T——FRKR_ZFT—FF=H
—t+—BHLEFE FhHzHBARAR
10% 8 (S EFT1SH -
@i—i——ifﬂf+—amif
ENfE Z BB A B ZBIR25% 84 (> Z A
B

FERBERHABERYRLT :

2010
—E-FF

HK$'000
TAET
70,343
13,088
(3,871)
122

(9,349)

(696)
759

10

63



For the year ended 31 March 2011 &HZ

—T——F=-fA=+—HULEE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

Loss

Loss for the year attributable to the
owners of the Company for
the purpose of basic loss per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares:

Interest on convertible notes

Loss for the purpose of diluted loss
per share

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic loss per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
share:

Convertible notes

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose of
diluted loss per share

BB
BT EEBREABRZ AR
HEARMEFAREE

BEEEETRR 2T E

A SRR R B
AT EEBREEER L EBE

T EEBREABRZ
Rk R ak

BEBELBRCTE

QR &

M EEREEER
EARR T

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2011

was the same as the basic loss per share. The Company’s

outstanding convertible notes were not included in the

calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect of the

Company'’s outstanding convertible notes was anti-dilutive.

There was no diluting event existed during the year ended 31

March 2010.

Annual Report 2011 3k

NG ZE PN R e e S T
BT R TSI BR A E

2010
—E-FF

HK$'000
TExT

70,280

70,280

'000
ThR

1,658,138

1,658,138

BE-_T——F=-A=1+—HULEFEZ
BREEERESHEANEIRER - A
INZNYNCIIC PN A E AR &S $E8E: -
SBER MR E SR EE BRI &
At RARRE EAED Z AT AR

RBE_T—FTF=-HA=1t—HLHF
EWI%@E%%$#°



Cost

At 1 April 2009
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Adjustments (note /)
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2010 and
1 April 2010

Acquisition of a subsidiary
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Reclassified to assets
held for sale
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2011

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1 April 2009

Charge for the year

Eliminated on disposals

Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2010 and
1 April 2010

Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Reclassified to assets
held for sale
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2011

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2011

At 31 March 2010

=21
=N

1
=
Yok
N
HE
#H

25
B (Hiti)
AR

R-E—ZF
ZA=+—8k
—T-%F
mA—H

b — R 2 )

g

25

BHNBERELE
BE

EXAE

R=2--%
=ZA=t-AH

Rt ERAE

R=ZZENFWA—A

FAXH
i1 & B 3
L3l

R-E—TF
=A=t—-8k

—Z-ZFMWA—H

FERXH

i 6 B L 35

BENDEERELE
EE

B BE

R-E-——-F
=A=t+-H
REE
R-B-——-F
ZA=t-H
RnZT—

%EH*E

Buildings
i 2

HK$'000
TAT

83,454

85,794

63

(8,699)
3,770

80,928

20,576
4,085

80

24,741
4,798

(1,736)
1,087

28,890

52,038

61,053

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment
%E BHR
BAERME
HK$'000
THATL

9,872
296
1,114
(3,357)
327

29

8,281

1,590

(4,181)
333

6,038

6,466
1,606
(2,386)

19

5,705
1,477

(2,824)
235

4,593

1,445

2,576

Leasehold
improvements

RENREE
HK$'000
TEx

993

993

993

Motor
vehicles

e
HK$'000
ThL
6,710
1,399
(4,582)

12

3,539
1,822
(1,160)

(1,057)
109

3,253

4,200
1,481
(4,149)

1,537
1,143
(1,155)

(400)
21

1,146

2,107

2,002

Plant and
machinery

BER#E
HK$'000
TAT
139,710
9,816
(62,561)
14,924

(39)
391

102,241
13,877
2,978

(62,729)
4,493

60,860

92,202
11,366
(53,206)

219

50,581
13,753

(34,847)
2,223

31,710

29,150

51,660

Construction
in progress

HEIR
HK$'000
TR
930
26,024
(17,657)

22

9,319
1,840
(2,978)

(8,591)
410

9,319

Total

g
HK$'000
TAT

241,669
296
38,707
(71,209)

39)
743

210,167
15
19,192
(1,160)

(85,257)
9,115

152,072

124,437
18,538
(59,741)
323

83,557
21,171
(1,155)

(39,807)
3,566

67,332

84,740

126,610
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥k -BEKRSZE (&)

18.

(CONTINUED)

Notes: Hat -

() During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group received () REEZZ-—ZF=A=+—HIF
government grant of approximately HK$39,000 which was EA - ZK;EIJ%Z 1| 5 I 7 B 4939,000
granted as subsidy to purchase certain property, plant and B ERBEETYE BERREE
equipment. Accordingly, the government grant has been applied ZFERE e L - USRI BN E B RIEAR
to reduce the cost of the relevant assets. BB E 2B

(i) The Group has pledged building having a carrying amount of (i) ANEEDERERMEEL29,587,000%
approximately HK$29,587,000 (2010: HK$31,050,000) and 7T (ZF—Z % : 31,050,000/ 7T) 2
plant and machinery having a carrying amount of approximately EFRAREE499,678,0008 T (=%
HK$9,678,000 (2010: HK$23,872,000) to secure bank —T4F 23,872,000/ 7T ) Z HiE Rtk
borrowings granted to the Group (for details, please refer to B ERETAEEZRITEEZE
note 30). # (BB EH20ME30) o

(= =

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. N HHEKIE

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise: AEBZENBESERIERLE:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FHET

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong: BB HE T3

Medium term lease FARAE 49 6,249 6,205

Reclassified to assets held for sale EHORERELEEE (2,141) —

4,108 6,205

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RIFRIwE BT :

Current portion (note 23) BVEREB > (H73£23) 112 219

Non-current portion FEBNEREB 3,996 5,986

4,108 6,205

The Group has pledged land use rights having a carrying R-E——F=A=+—H AEED

amount of approximately HK$4,108,000 as at 31 March 2011 15 15 BR T (B 494,108,000 L (= —

(2010: HK$6,205,000) to secure bank borrowings granted to T4 :6,205,0008 L) < Ll A4

the Group (for details, please refer to note 30).

ERRTARBEZRITEREZER (B
B B2 EE30) ©
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Cost
At 1 April 2009
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010

Acquisition through a subsidiary
Reclassified to assets held for sale
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2011

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment

At 1 April 2009

Charge for the year

Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010

Charge for the year
Reclassified to assets held for sale
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2011

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2011

At 31 March 2010

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

BER-RNEARKE

EMDBEERE
HEEE

B 5 S B

R-ZE——F
=A=+-H

R BHERRE

R-ZZEAFHA—H
FRXH
B 3%, 38 2

R-E—FF
ZA=+—Hk
“E-TFWMA—H

FAZ M

BN EE
RELEEE

B X, 35 %

R-B——F
=A=+-H

IR E
R-ZE——F
=A=+—H

Technical
know-how

EE M
HK$'000
THET

1,609
3

1,612

(1,686)
74

1,544
39

1,585
28

(1,686)
73

27

Exclusive
right
BxEAN
HK$'000
FHBT

576,334

576,334

576,334

Total
@t
HK$'000
THT

1,609

3

1,612
576,334

(1,686)
74

576,334

1,544
39

1,585
28

(1,686)
73

576,334

27



For the year

Notes:

(if)

ended 31 March 2011 HZ=_Z——4%=A=+—HILFE

Technical know-how is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful economic life of five years.

Exclusive right represents the Deed of Statement and Power of
Attorney dated 12 September 2009 and made between PT. Indo
Modern Mining Sejahtera (“Indo”), the holder of the operation
license in the iron ore mining is located in Lumajang, East Java,
Indonesia, and PT. Dampar Golden International (“PT. Dampar”),
a subsidiary of the Group, pursuant to which, Indo grants
exclusive rights and authorities to PT. Dampar to manage and

arrange all activities in the mining area on behalf of Indo.

Exclusive right is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful economic life. The useful economic life of the
exclusive rights was estimated with reference to the validity of
the operation license held by Indo. The operation license was
valid for ten years from 21 July 2010 and the holder was entitled
to apply for renewal for two times with a 10-year term each.

No amortization was provided for the year ended 31 March
2011 as the iron ore mining operation has not yet been
commenced during the year.

The Group is required to assess any indication of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. The Group has completed its
annual impairment test for the exclusive right, no impairment
loss was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2011, as
the recoverable amount exceed the carrying amount. The
recoverable amount of the exclusive right is referenced
to valuation report issued by Norton Appraisals Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers, as at 31 March 2011
which the exclusive right has been measured based on the value
in use calculation.

Hat

(if)

Annual Report 2011 &%

BRBM Ty E B F 2 5T R A
FHARIZBEARLH -

XK #F|4EPT. Indo Modern Mining
Sejahtera ([Indo ) (ARALLAENE R

EAmEEGREEARKZEETA
BB A)BEAREE 2 B2 F]PT.
Dampar Golden International ([PT.
Dampar | ) R=_ZEZFNFNA+=H
RIS AR REEE HEIE - Indo
MPT. Dampar#x ) 8 5 # 7 & 4 77 LA
RRIndoBE 12 R &2 HE B B 31T 2 BT
BiEH -

BRENDREMGT I REEFHRA
ANEOREE - BHREN 2 A&
FHTH2E BIndofTIFE & F
BREMET A -REFTEZE
BB —E—TFL A=+ AL
RE+F MIEEAFERFERN
R BRABR/TF-

B A A0 87 0 B R B SR 7 1R R
B HRBE_ZT——F=A=+—

B E I EAT R 8y -
A& BARNE HE PR ERRE

PR RNEEDTREBRERN 2 F
EREARA REE—_FT——F=H
=t HALFEYEERREER:
JRE AU O] 2 RE AR AR - B R
Mz e %ETJ%&@Q%EE:ZL\Q
REXGEMEAEERTEERA
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

HK$'000
T T
Cost A
At 1 April 2009 RZZETNFHEHA—H =
Acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries FBUWEEMTE N R 260,015
At 31 March 2010, 1 April 2010 RZE—ZEF=A=+—8"
and 31 March 2011 —EZTFMNA—HEK
—E——%=H=+—H 260,015
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt #EEREE
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010 RZZEZTNFEMA—A-
and 1 April 2010 —EZEF=A=+t—HK
—E-ZFTFWPA—H -
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE (10,415)
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H (10,415)
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2011 R=-ZE——F=H=+—H 249,600
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZF=R=+—H 260,015

The mining right represents the right to conduct mining

activities in Tumurtei, Khuder Soum, Selenge Aimag, Mongolia.

The mining right is amortised using the unit-of-production
methods based on the total proven and probable mineral
reserves, under the assumption that the Group can renew the
mining right for two successive additional periods of 20 years
each after the initial granted period of 30 years, till all proven

and probable mineral reserves have been mined.

No amoritsation was provided for the year ended 31 March
2011 as commercial production of the mine has not yet

commenced during the year.

RIERE S S Tumurtei * Khuder
Soum ’ Selenge Aimagi# 1T EHIE/EE) 2
REA o

PR Ty BN AN &= B A R 1) 2 K30
FHRESEENXNEBEREI20FH
RRBEEEEZACRB LA EEE
ECMRZME RECHKARAE
BEARENEESMAETHE-

HRFEAZBEL R RRABERLEE &
BE_T——F=A=1+—HLLFE
I TR SH o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

20.

21.

22

MINING RIGHT (CONTINUED)

The Group is required to assess any indication of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. The Group has completed
its annual impairment test for the mining right by comparing
the recoverable amount of the mining right to its carrying
amount as at 31 March 2011. Impairment loss in respect of
mining right of approximately HK$10,415,000 (2010: Nil) was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2011 by reference
to the valuation report issued by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyor
Limited, independent qualified professional valuers, as at 31
March 2011 which the mining right has been measured by the
value in use calculation. Impairment loss recognised is due to
the delay of its business plan related to the mining right.

20. FriEE (&)

REB AR S ®E AR ERRED
R AEEDBEBGHBEERN T ——
F=A=t—AHAz0KkbEeEELRE
BETLEERMTHK ERBEE 2 FER
BAH - REE-_E——F=F=+—
BIEFE BHERREEZREEERLY
10,415,000 (ZE—ZTF &) ' )
DEBISEREXGHEMABRITAZ
MERARR-ZE——F=A=+—
BETZHERETE  MEREEDZR
FREBEFE T EFNE BEERZRE
ERTREEBEERE 2 EBEE
BB -

INVENTORIES 21. 178
2011 2010
—Eg-—F —E—FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Raw materials J5 A 1,959 2,395
Packaging materials and consumables B &% K 5% H 2,820 7,788
Finished goods BIK 9,602 13,661
14,381 23,844

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group has not
written off obsolete finished goods (2010: approximately
HK$351,000).

BE-F——5=A=+—AILFE:
52 B B B B R R HOR (=
T — T4 : 4)351,0007T) °

.TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22. B S RWERA K EINEE
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T
Trade receivables 5 R X 56,684 73,798
Less: accumulated impairment W RETRE (13,010) (19,141)
43,674 54,657

Bills receivables discounted/ MiBRE 28R
endorsed with recourse HEREWEE 6,362 6,855
50,036 61,512
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BEZ =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Payment terms with customers are mainly on credit. Invoices
are normally settled within 90 days to 180 days of issuance,
except for certain well established customers. The following
is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment
losses, and bills receivable discounted/endorsed with recourse
at the end of the reporting period:

0 to 90 days 0Z290H

91 to 180 days 912 180H
181 to 365 days 181£365H
1 to 2 years 1224

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and credit quality attributed to customers are
reviewed periodically. At 31 March 2011, approximately 80%
(2010: 83%) of the trade receivables are neither past due nor
impaired, and are assessed to be of satisfactory credit quality
with reference to the past track records.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$9,910,000 (2010: HK$10,337,000) which are past due at
the reporting date for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The amounts are mainly comprised amounts
due from certain well established customers, which the Group
normally grant an extension to them. The Group does not hold

any collateral over these balances.

BERFXZEREEMNR -BRETERAR
FZRPIN —RBEBBEEZELE 290
HEI1SOHRNEHEEZ - RWMEBMKRZ
B RN (MBRRESER) KM
BREZUE /BERKERZERR
DHTEAR

2010
—E-FF
HK$'000
FET

39,498
11,677
4,121
6,216

61,512

BEMEMHEFA AREENEER
PzREER YEEEFPZEER
B-BEFPEGRTZREMMEEREE
g R -_T——F=A=+—8"
BHRWERLNE0% (ZE—FF:
83% ) W AR B HI TR ARIRE - WAR BB
A EAREZEEER

REB 2B S RERKERGEHREERER
B/ #9,910,0008 L (=T —TF:
10,337,000/%8 7T ) B R4 A HAE m 4f
Ko 7N 62 (B 1) R gt UL R H R (B B R R
CEBER ZERETEREREKSE
TARIFBERP (REE—HKETR
SRERE) CRIE - AEEW B ZE
EHRREAEE R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 BZEZ=-Z——F=A=+—HILtFE

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but

2 83 EUTRHR S RS

EABERREZE S BURRE

not impaired 53
2011 2010
—F——fF —E2—FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
181 to 365 days 181%2365H 9,635 4,121
1 to 2 years 1224 275 6,216
9,910 10,337

Movement in the provision for impairment loss

recognised in respect of trade receivables

B RYRRCRIABEBERE

2 8

2011 2010

2% —=-24

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT

Balance at beginning of the year REF 2 4 19,141 14,334
Impairment losses recognised on B 5 RWERR EEEM/DMEESTE

trade receivables 3,292 7,670

Impairment losses reversed B (B 5 18 2 [ (5,509) (4,782)

Reclassified to assets held for sale BN BEERELEEE (4,705) =

Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 B 791 1,919

Balance at end of the year RERZEH 13,010 19,141
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22.

112

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Movement in the provision for impairment
loss recognised in respect of trade receivables
(Continued)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to
the end of the reporting period. Included in the provision
for impairment loss on trade receivables are all individually
impaired trade receivables which have either been placed
under liquidation or in severe financial difficulties. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group has
recovered trade receivables of approximately HK$5,509,000
(2010: HK$4,782,000) which has been impaired in previous
years.

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

™~
g

B 7 BRUWIRR K EREE
&

g5 EUERERRBEGRRE
5 (5)

RHEE B 5 I W R 2 AT M= B - 2R
SEEEEAKNETEEEREME
BEMREBESRUERZEMEER
BxEH -HHREERZRERBBER
tBEREERRNERERNBEY B H
ZFAEREREER S EKRR - A&
B B E AR A RS-

REBE-ZT——F=A=+—HIEF
B AEEEWERARIFEEREZ
E 5 & U8R 3% 495,509,000/ 7t (=&
—Z4F 1 4,782,000 7T ) °

EREE 5 B W R AR AR R

2011 2010
—E——F —TFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
181 — 365 days 181%365H - 7,670
1 to 2 years 1224 13,010 11,471
13,010 19,141
Transfer of financial assets BEUKEE

At 31 March 2011, the Group's bills receivables of
approximately HK$6,362,000 (2010: HK$6,855,000) had
been transferred to unrelated suppliers with recourse. As the
Group is still exposed to credit risk on these bills receivable,
the Group continues to recognise the full carrying amount of
the bills receivable and record associated trade payables of
approximately HK$6,362,000 (2010: HK$6,855,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

R=ZZT——%=A :+—El g
B #46,362,0008 L (=T — & F:
6,855,000%%)25@15%%[5”&%%
BEETHERAE 2 HER- ﬁaﬁAztS%
BNABEZERRERZEER
ﬁﬂ%%l#@%ﬂéﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ%%%ﬁ
HRAERKEEZEREERGHEBZZ
5 &1 BE 3 496,362,000 7T (—ZF —
Z4F : 6,855,000/ 70 ) AFR°
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES

23.FEFRIE
U BR X

ek HEME

2011 2010
—_E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Amount receivable on disposal of an & U & B & A R FE

associate (note i) (Htati) 67,000 82,000
Deposits paid (note ii) BEfEE (M) 664 30,366
Prepayments TR FRIE 8,193 5,774
Other receivables H th JfE U2 BR X 4,593 19,710
Prepaid lease payments (note 18) AR ERIE (#E18) 112 219
80,562 138,069

Notes: B st
(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group has () REBEEZE-_ZFTZNF=ZA=+—H1

(i)

disposed of the interest in associate for a total consideration
of HK$180,000,000. The amount was the remaining part of
receivable from the acquirer. During the year ended 31 March
2011, amount of HK$15,000,000 was settled. The directors
of the Company considered that the remaining amount is
recoverable within twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

At 31 March 2010, deposits paid included the deposits paid
of HK$10,000,000 for the proposed acquisition of 55% of the
entire share capital of PT. Dampar Golden International (“PT.
Dampar”). In relation to the sale and purchase agreements
entered by the Group on 24 October 2009. Please refer to note
34 for further details.

(ii)

FE AEEELHERBE AR ZE
% #8118 /5180,000,00058 7T o £t
SHIEWRKES Z2HBFR - REBEEZ
T——F=ZA=+—HLEFER"
15,000,000 LA FEE & & - A1 A
EERA BTREABREHRE
AT+ =@EAANYkE -

R—_ZE—ZTF=ZF=+—H Bt

B35 2% W BEPT. Dampar Golden
International ([PT. Dampar J ) % ZpA%
A Z255% 2 B % ©10,000,000%
TAEBR-ZZEAFTA=-+HMA
BEEBEMBECE—LIEELH
Bt 334 o
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24 . FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

25.

114

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

@R N FEARZHS

2011 2010
—2——fF —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET
Held for trading equity securities REBELTMZHEER
listed in Hong Kong at quoted IRAFE 5 - (B
price 728 577

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less and carry interest at market rates of 0.72%
(2010: 0.2% to 3.5%) per annum during the year.

Included in the bank balances and cash as at 31 March
2011 were amounts in RMB of HK$26,095,000 (2010:
HK$21,880,000) which are not freely convertible into other
currencies.

At the end of the reporting period, no bank deposits (2010:
HK$6,826,000) have been pledged to secure short-term bank
borrowings and are therefore classified as current assets. The
pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement of

relevant bank borrowing.

25. RITHEBRIRE T H
ﬁE?Tﬁ/TA

FRBITEBERRSBELASERS
ZBRERIEMSENERT2% (ZF—
TF:0.2%%23.5% )5 B MR 2 H
MAE=ZEASUA T ZRBRRITHFER -

R-TE——F=ZfA=+—HB2ZR7T
EHDRRES BEAARESFEZR
JH #126,095,0008 L (= F — T F :
21,880,000/ L) - ARBTEEB A K
RAEEMER-

RIERR WEBRTER(ZE—F
F: ,%’96,826,0005%7t) EEMIERREH
ﬁEﬁ%EZ%&W% ’ /_\*Etj//llébé
Ee E%&?ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%’xﬂﬁé/a%ﬁa BER1T
BERERK -



For the year ended 31 March 2011 &HZ

On 18 March 2011,

purchase agreement to sell the entire issued share capital of
Bright Central Investments Limited (“Bright Central”) and its
subsidiary at a consideration of HK$30,000,000. The disposal
of Bright Central was completed on 16 May 2011. The major
classes of assets and liabilities comprising the assets classified

the Group entered into a sale and

—T——F=-fA=+—HULEE

H%

Annual Report 2011 3k

—E2-——F=ZA+/N\B -KAEEF]
—fn B & & A #% £ {E30,000,000
’érﬁﬁ’iBrlght Central Investments
Limited ([Bright Central | ) & H [ &
DAz 2B EITRA - H EBright
CentalBE R =_FE——FHA+H=

as held for sale at the end of the reporting period are as KerNBmEHRREERBE (BENE
follows: ARELEEE) CEBHEAINT

Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payment
Deposit for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Assets of the disposal group classified as
held for sale

Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Bank borrowings

Liabilities of disposal group associated
with assets classified as held for sale

Net assets of the disposal group classified as
held for sale

ES J;E%& 5 1

Fa {478 & KT

LGRYE S J??ﬁb‘%& R iEE
TE

EE LTV ES
BENRE 2 e R E MR RR
EHEMRITER

RITEBR MBS
DEAFKFHEZHEREZEE

B RNERRENRE
Hi B REREFER
RITIEE

BARARELEEEMMY
HEKRE AR

DEAFIFHEZHEREL
BEFE

2011

=1 T
HK$'000
FHT

45,450
2,141

5,544
10,245
15,795
18,233
1,820
1,444

100,672
(15,842)

(13,299)
(51,485)

(80,626)

20,046
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27.TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 27. B5 B ERRR B EE

2011 2010

—F——f —E2—FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Trade payables B 5 EN IR 13,709 21,228

Bills payables - 34,130

13,709 55,358

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables at the RMEBRRZE S ENEREFTER DT

end of the reporting period: R

2011 2010

—2-—F —TFF

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FHT

0 to 90 days 8,997 13,799

91 to 180 days 2,934 2,898

181 to 365 days 625 3,092

Over 365 days 1,153 1,439

13,709 21,228

The average credit period on purchases is 3 months (2010: 3 BETYHEEHA=-EA(ZE—%
months). F:=@A) -
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28.OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. Hitt BRI K EFHE A

2011 2010

—F——fF —E—FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FABT

Value-added tax payable JE {1 38 {8 5t 3K 1,404 1,486

Receipt in advance T8 Ug BR X - 1,572

Accruals Bt ER 4,727 4,376
Deposit received for disposal of RHEMNBARKRZIES

subsidiaries 18,000 -

Other payables H b pE S BR FX 4,588 13,751

28,719 21,185

29.

30.

AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount due to a shareholder is interest free, unsecured

and repayable on demand.

BANK BORROWINGS

29. BT IRER FIE

BNBRRFKBLSRE BEMAMRER

iy (E 52

30.8R1TEE

{jj-_ 1A

2011 2010
—E——F —ZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Bank borrowings RITIEE

— secured —FHEH 45,130 59,898
— unsecured — 4 4K 1 23,753 22,753
68,883 82,651

The borrowings are repayable as BEZEFBANOT

follows:

Within one year —F LR 68,883 72,810
In the second year NEZER - 9,841
68,883 82,651
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30.BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

:I:

30.8R1TIEE (&

"\a\

)

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Less: Amount due for settlement AR+ =@ A W E &S
within 12 months (shown EEZHE (2R
under current liabilities) MEBAEA) (68,883) (72,810)
Amount due for settlement # -+ =& A 1& 2| &1
after 12 months “E 7SR - 9,841
Bank borrowings at: BRI ERM B X2
RITEE:
— floating interest rates —FEF & 68,883 43,971
— fixed interest rates — [& & F & - 38,680
68,883 82,651

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are all
denominated in RMB, which is the functional currency of the

AEERTEEZRAEGAARKE
HE - MARBTHNSEER LS

group entities. e o
The contractual fixed and floating interest rates in respect of RITEE 26N EE RIZFBF =1L LA
bank borrowings were within the following ranges: TEE A -
2011 2010
—E——fF —FF
Bank borrowings RITHBEE 5.6% - 6.4% 5.6% — 8.2%

118




Annual Report 2011 3k

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

On 3 June 2009, the Group issued promissory notes in a total
principal amount of HK$230,000,000 due and repayable in full
on 15 months from date of issue. The promissory notes were
issued for acquiring the entire interest in Tian Sheng Resources
Development Limited (“Tian Sheng”) and bear zero coupon

rate. (Please refer note 35). The effective interest rate is 17%.

At 1 April 2009
Fair value of promissory notes (note i)
Interest charged
Early redemption of promissory notes

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Interest charged
Early redemption of promissory notes

At 31 March 2011

RZZEZNFAA=0 AEEETH
HITHBEMSEAAZRIHERE
HEE 2 N ¢ # % /230,000,000 7T
2 BRIE o A AR T A MR R B B
RAZARAR ([RE]) 22 RER
M7  BRZE - (FA2MME35) -
BERFERB1T% °

HK$'000

FHET

R_ZEZhFEOA—AB =

EAEBZATE (KT 189,015

FMEZH 14,439

R E RN EE (109,498)
R-ZT—ZTEF=ZA=+—H K

—ZE-—FTFMHH—H 93,956

B H 5,147

R EEEA N Ei& (99,103)

R-Z2-——%=A=t—H -
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31.PROMISSORY NOTES (CONTINUED)

120

Notes:

()

(i)

The fair value of the promissory notes issued have been arrived
on the basis of a valuation carried out on the completion
date of the acquisition by B.l. Appraisals Limited, independent
professional valuers not connect with the Group. The valuation

was arrived at by reference to income approach.

Pursuant to the terms in relation to the issuance of promissory
notes, the Group has the right to early redeem the promissory
notes. The Group may redeem the whole or any part of the
outstanding principal amount of the promissory notes at any
time prior to the maturity date to the promissory notes, with
given written notice to the holders of the holders of the notes
not less than seven days prior to the specific date of redemption

(to the extent the holder being located and such notice served).

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group repaid at
principal amounts of HK$100,000,000 for HK$99,401,215 on
10 August 2010.

31. &R EHE (&)

wit

(i)

(ii)

EBTALRERZ A FEDREBER
SEYERE 2 BLEEEEMRRA
BB EAERARNABKRETXA
ET2EEMER - ZEEDES

ZW AT EMER
RIBEBTALERARZ G K
SEERREEEL AL ER AEE

FERFFERE R B BRI~ DR+ B RZ
EERFAEAREERBAZERT
(e #EE F5 A A2tk 3F 2% 1 5 Bl i
HN) - AR SRR B ER B Al ] R
SRS e e R I A PN
BERNSE-

REBEZE-_T——F=A=+—HB1t
EE AEEER-_ZE—ZENA
+ A 599,401,2158 T EE AR 5
100,000,000 T °
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32.SHARE CAPITAL 32. g A
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZTEKREA -]
HK$'000
THET
Authorised: A TE R AR
At 31 March 2010 and R-E—ZF=A=+—HBK
31 March 2011, ordinary —_ET——F=H=+—H
shares of HK$0.05 each BIRMEE0.05/%8 T 2 @M 10,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: EBITRERRA:
At 31 March 2009, ordinary RZEZNF=ZA=+—HB%
shares of HK$0.05 each & E{E0.057% T2 ik 1,411,440,590 70,572
Placing of shares (note i) Be & ARt (A7 ati) 426,500,000 21,325
Issue of ordinary shares (note i) BT E R (K aEi) 192,660,000 9,633
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZEF=HA=+—H 2,030,600,590 101,530
Open offer (note ifi) NRBEE (M i) 1,015,300,295 50,765
Conversion of convertible notes 20 0] AN E R
(note iv) (Hiziv) 652,844,873 32,642
At 31 March 2011 RZZE——F=H=+—H 3,698,745,758 184,937
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Notes:

The Company placed 88,500,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05
each at a placing price of HK$0.397 per share. The ordinary
shares of 80,000,000 shares and 8,500,000 shares were
issued on 23 June 2009 and 29 June 2009 for the purpose
of increasing general working capital for the Group. The new

shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respect.

The Company placed 88,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05
each at a placing price of HK$0.26 per share. The ordinary
shares were issued on 24 November 2009 for the purpose of
increasing general working capital for the Group. The new
shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respect.

The Company placed 250,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05
each at a placing price of HK$0.19 per share. The ordinary
shares were issued on 22 February 2010 for the purpose of
increasing general working capital for the Group. The new
shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respect.

Hiat -

ARABEREEEESREN0.397/8
7T B2 £588,500,0000% & % [ {8 4&0.05
BLTZEBR - R-_ZZENLF A
“tH=Z=EBRZZEEAFRA=TN
H %17 2.80,000,0000% & i A% A 17 K&
8,500,000% & @A A% 10 « SASE N &
B-—REEES - FMRHEBFRN
ERTEZE RS -

ARAREREEESREN0.26/8
TCHC 88,000, oooﬂﬂﬁiﬁ{ﬁﬁ%o 05

BT BB 777j1¢+ A
“tEAETCE BN AIEMN
REE— “%Léﬁé ¥t IR A

BRI ESHEZERREHA -

ARRBIRREEESRRH0.19%8 T
fic #250,000,000/% & f% H 18 £0.05
BLz2EBRR- R=ZT—TF_HA
T BETZEBRRG - LA
AEB-—REBEE - NRMHERA
ROESFTEZHRFHA -
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Notes: (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

On 21 July 2009, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to
which the independent third party has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue 111,660,000 shares in cash at the subscription price
of HK$0.3 per share. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 21 July 2009. The ordinary shares of
111,660,000 were issued on 24 July 2009 for the purpose of
increasing general working capital for the Group. The new
shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

On 24 August 2009, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to
which the independent third party has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue 81,000,000 shares in cash at the subscription price of
HK$0.25 per share. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 24 August 2009. The ordinary shares of
81,000,000 were issued on 7 September 2009 for the purpose
of increasing general working capital for the Group. The new

shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

On 30 April 2010, the Company has issued 1,015,300,295
ordinary shares pursuant to the open offer on the basis of one
offer share for every two shares held on the record date at a
subscription price of HK$0.13 per offer share. The ordinary
shares were issued for the purpose of increasing general
working capital for the Group. The new shares rank pari passu
with the existing share in all respects.

On 18 October 2010 and 15 December 2010, the holders of the
convertible notes converted convertible notes of approximately
HK$110,447,000 and HK$11,178,000 respectively into
592,844,873 and 60,000,000 ordinary shares at a conversion
price of HK$0.1863.

Annual Report 2011 &%

Hiat - (4&)

(if)

(iii)

RZZBEZNFEAZ+—B KAHA
H—ZBHIE=FEREHE B
Bz ZBILE=TERKHR
EUNRERE MARAEE KGR
EAL# K& ¥17111,660,0008% 215 -
RBERERKRNH0.3ET - RS
B2EAR Taﬁﬂﬁ_qqhitﬂ
Tt —HZAf-AKREER-F
ﬂiﬁﬁ:+lﬂl5§§ﬁ111,660,000
IR EBARAR D - LA IR SR 2 — R
HEER MRODERBRHEST
H=ZEREHA -

R-ZZEZAFNA=-FTHEA ARF
H—ZBIE=HRITRERHE B
BahE ZBYE=FEBKHGR
EURESRE MARREBKHGR
B 2 % & % 1781,000,0000% % 15+ &R
BEATRRM.25B T - BB
BE2HART AR _TTAFENA
ZTtHHBZAM -AEEER=ZZTE
NF N A+ HE1781,000,0008% i
BRARD - LA INAEREZ —REEE
B HROHERERNESHTEEZE
EE:3: A

RZZE—ZFWNA=+H xRAE
BREAREZEUARBEEREER
5013wz it tk A i B Mk
BROEE -—REERND CELEET
1,015,300,2950% & @ A% o 17 E @A
EEENAEE, —REEES
ROERERNDESFEZEREM

fiL e

R-ZZ—ZTF+A+NBER=Z
TFE+-_A+HA ATRREERHF
BARERB0.1863EF L H A H
110,447,0007% 7T 11,178,000/ T
2 A iR PR 2 40 5592,844,87 3%
}2.60,000,0000% & & f% -
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On 29 September 2010, the Company issued convertible RZZE-—ZTFHALAZ+NB KRAEE
notes due on 28 September 2017 with a principal amount of 7778 & B8 /546,750,000 7T WA =
HK$546,750,000, which is interest free. The convertible notes E—t+tFNA-FTN\BRHZzEEA
were issued as part of the consideration for acquisition of MR EE - BT AR EREAKEEPT
PT. Dampar. The convertible notes contain two components, DamparfX Bz — & - IR ZE B
liability and equity elements, and are convertible into fully EmEn BEaERERED  WATR
paid ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.05 each of ZEIREGRRD0.1863 L (AT T
the Company at an initial conversion price of HK$0.1863 per AR ) ERAARA R EREEC.0SE T
share, subject to adjustment. The effective interest rate on the BB RERR RNBETEHZER
date of issue is approximately 9.84%. The convertible notes FEL)B9.84% - (J R EE TR E
are not redeemable by the note holder(s) or the Company. BRBAIAARED-
The movement of the liability component of the convertible FAN-AIBMERERE G0 2 EBEHT
notes for the year is set out below: mR
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010 RZZEZENFMOMA—HRK
—E-FEF=H=+—8H -
Initial recognition (note 34) WL HER (H17£34) 283,370
Interest charged AMEFZH 11,364
Converted into shares during the year F AR RGN (60,894)
Fair value changes N EEH (3,860)
At 31 March 2011 R-—B-——%=A=+—H 229,980
The fair values of the convertible notes issued has been arrived EBTAIRRER 2 A FETDBRER
on the basis of a valuation carried out on the date of issue, the SEWERE 2B BEGERMTH
dates of conversion and at the end of the reporting period by BT AR AR REITHE  #inH
Norton Appraisals Limited, independent professional valuers RN mERARMET 2 EEER B
not connect with the Group. The effective interest rate are in BRI A F729.84% % 10.69% 2 8 ©

the range of 9.84% to 10.69%.
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On 23 October 2009, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement and supplemental agreements to
acquire 55% of the entire issued share capital in PT. Dampar
at a consideration of HK$577,500,000. The main asset of PT.
Dampar is the exclusive right to manage, refine and sell the
iron sand at the mining area held by a minority shareholder, PT.
Indo Modern Mining Sejahtera. The consideration was satisfied
by (i) HK$30,750,000 in cash and (ii) HK$546,750,000 by the
Company's issue to Empire Bridge Assets Limited of convertible

notes. The acquisition was completed on 29 September 2010.

PT. Dampar has not carried out any significant business
transactions on acquisition date. In the opinion of the
directors, the acquisition did not constitute an acquisition
of business in substance. The acquisition of the exclusive
right was then considered as acquisition of assets through
acquisition of a subsidiary. Therefore, the acquisition was not
accounted for as a business combination in accordance with

the requirements of HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.

Annual Report 2011 3k

MR-BBAFE+A-+=0 N&EEF]
VERHEEEHERAETHE  AER
{8577,500,000/% st Y BEPT. Dampar®
EPE BT IR AR 255% ° PT. DamparZ
FTEEEABREE RBREHEEMR
B— R LEEZBKEPT Indo Modern
Mining SejahteraP#§ 2 FL4& (= & &1
ZHER] - KB E BAG)ER £30,750,0007%
TR (N R B R BEEAR AT 7
1% 2= 4%546,750,0007%8 7T 2 75 B 1+ o
WEER-ZE—ZFFNLA-_TNLAR
Jﬁo

PT. Dampari Y2 B HA Y T (Ef &
AEERG BEERA ZWEEL L
A7 K — TE U B 7 o W B SR 7
ERGERASAWE —HMEBRARK
BEE AL RIBEEEMBRELEL
FIREFLEHZHTE  ZUW I EAE
RIEEBEH AR
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34.

126

ACQUISITION OF INTANGIBLE ASSET
AND OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

Instead of considering the fair values of the assets and
liabilities acquired, the directors of the Company considered
that it is reliable to apply fair values of the consideration
paid, as determined in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payments to account for the acquisition cost of the identifiable
assets and liabilities.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired
in the transaction are as follows:

4.7 Wi — FE T B~ B W
BETEERHEMEEL
Rafs (&)

EERA ERARBEBVBHREER
FLRABR O BEREZNAEEZEN
REZAFEAKRABINEERAE
ZWIBRAER SEA - T IEE B PR
EENBEZRTFE

REHHBAZTHRIEERE 2
ATEMT -

HK$'000
T T
Net assets acquired: EWBEEEFRE:
Property, plant and equipment I ERNE N S 15
Intangible assets BVEE 576,334
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHER 369
Amount due to non-controlling interest JE AT FE 428 A% 2 SIE (1,778)
Fair value of net assets BEFEZATE 574,940
55% of the fair value of the entire equity PT. DamparZ #B A # 2 F{E 2 55%
interest in PT. Dampar 316,217
Satisfied by: XA
Cash Re 30,750
Convertible notes, at fair value (note 33) BAFEZUBRRER (#/:233) 283,370
Acquisition-related costs 1 B 48 B8 Ak A 2,097
316,217
Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition: WEELZRERHFEHE:
Cash consideration paid EEEKE (30,750)
Cash and bank balances acquired P g 2 IR & RERIT A B8R 369
(30,381)
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34. ACQUISITION OF INTANGIBLE ASSET

35.

AND OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no turnover and loss was
contributed by PT. Dampar as it has not carried out any significant
business transaction since the acquisition.

ACQUISITION OF MINING RIGHT
AND OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 3 December 2008, 5 January 2009 and 2 February 2009,
the Group has entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement and supplemental agreements to acquire the entire
issued share capital in Tian Sheng Resources Development
Limited (“Tian Sheng”). The main asset of Tian Sheng is the
entire equity interest in a Mongolia subsidiary, Khuderbold
LLC (“Khuderbold”) (collectively referred to as “Tian Sheng
Group”), which principally engaged in conducting mining
work for iron resources in Mongolia at consideration of
HK$300,000,000. The consideration was satisfied by (i)
HK$70,000,000 in cash and (ii) HK$230,000,000 by the
Company's issue (through a wholly-owned subsidiary) to Boa
Fung Investments Limited of promissory notes. The acquisition
was completed on 3 June 2009.

34. ZBWEEIHE A =) Wi &

FPEEREMEEURE

& (%)

REBE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—HBLtFE"H
PAPT. Dampar B W HE LA R0 £ B B (Al &K
EBRG MU EEEEEERER-

GEBWEEHE R W R

BENAEMWEEURER

RZZBEZNFEF+TZA=0-ZZFF N
F-ARABAR-ZTTENF=-_A=AH"
AEBEITEBKRUHEERRERBR D
# UERERERAZERAR ([X
B Z2E2BEBHTRA-RBEZEE
EER—HSGME A FKhuderbold
LLC ([Khuderbold |) (%% A& [ X5
S8 za28kE EXEEZHES
£ 7% 7 £R 22 15 X (8 /2300,000,000/%
70> RB B LA()ZR £70,000,0007 7T &
(IVBAAR (BB —HE2EWBAA)
MBoa Fung Investments LimitedZ$1T
230,000,000/ 7T 2 7 5% = X+ o 3%
KWEER=ZZEZNFNA=ZHEK-
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Tian Sheng and Khuderbold have not carried out any
significant business transactions since their incorporation. In
the opinion of the directors, the acquisition did not constitute
an acquisition of business which the Group principally

acquired the mining right through the acquisition. Therefore, - BB E
the acquisition was not disclosed as a business combination ApE 7T
in accordance with the requirements of HKFRS 3 Business B o

Combinations.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired

in the transaction are as follows:

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment

Mining right

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Other payables and accruals

Amount due to a former shareholder

Fair value of net assets
Assignment of amount due to a former
shareholder

Satisfied by:
Cash
Promissory notes, at fair value (note 37)

Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition
Cash consideration paid
Cash and bank balances acquired

—T——F=-fA=+—HULEFE

EWBEERME:
ME BEIRE
RuERE

BNFR - RE R H b EURERR

e NIFITHE
HiENERRRESTER
& AT AR 3R 2 5K I8

BEFEZRVE
7 HE & A A A RFRIR

=
Be
BANFEZEARLER (HiZ31)

WEAMELE 2RERHFHE
ENHREKE
PR 2 3R & RIRTTAE B

X B K Khuderbold B & 5 37 JA 28 32
FEHETENEANERS BARAEE
IKLL&H&E%LM&%%EE% WE=
R Eiﬂ&ﬁﬁlﬁ%}i*@%ﬂ%%fx 73|
EAERIEIREFL
EZH&ZE%EE%TBZ?EZ%%?%E\

REXHFBAZABRIEERARBZ
NEEWT

HK$'000
TAET

296

260,015

102

3
(1,401)
(66,100)

192,915

66,100

259,015

70,000
189,015

259,015

(70,000)
3

(69,997)
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The Company’s share options scheme (the “Scheme"”) adopted
on 14 January 2002 for the purposes of recognition of
significant contribution of and for the provision of incentives
to any directors, employees (whether full-time or part-
time), consultants, customers, suppliers, agents, partners or
advisors of or contractors to the Group or affiliates (“Eligible
Persons”) will expire on 13 January 2012. Under the terms of
the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may for
a notional consideration of HK$1 grant options to the Eligible
Persons to subscribe for shares in the Company at a price no
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer of the option (which must be a trading
day); (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's shares.
Options granted under the Scheme must be taken up within
21 business days from the date on which the offer is made
by returning a written acceptance of the offer signed by the
Eligible Persons together with the payment of HK$1 per option
(the “Acceptance Conditions”). Options granted and accepted
may be exercised at any time for 10 years commencing on
the date on which an option is accepted in accordance with
the Acceptance Conditions under the Scheme (the “Option
Period”). Options granted under the Scheme will be exercisable
in the Option Period notwithstanding that the scheme period
of the Scheme may have expired. The Scheme does not
prescribe any minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised and has not specified that the

exercise of an option is subject to any performance target.

Annual Report 2011 3k

ARFR-_ZZ_F—-ATHBRAZ
BhESE ([5H8)) BEEBEAS
BB AR ZENES ES (TH
EEEGER) BER-EFEP fER K
BAABASGEAAZAEMRE (65
AL IEHZEZER/ YRR F
R SRR MatdlnN —F——F—A
T=REm - RIEF 8 2G5 AAF
E=ZgrUREAREBIETAAER
AT HEHBEHE AT DROIZ2BER
BER (BWEARRXRHB)ARRFRMNE
BRXAERBERARZKHE : (iR
EREEREERMAERSZ RN E
BRrEARERMRZ FHETE:
RN RARIBEOEE (K5 ESE)
ZEMBBARRFR - RIFFEE B
ZBRELBARBEERALAR
FEZEMBNZMNG  ERZESERE
BREBAETT ([ERMIRT]) ETED
EREMIEZXEBRNEER R
B 2 T I AT AR IR T B3R B A R 1
EMBREE BEN0F R ([BARE
HAMR | ) BERS T - RIBETEIR K 2 FBAX
RARBREARATE BEHEZ
At EIHIRR AT BE T JE M © 5T I B AR E B
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme cannot
exceed 10% (the “Limit”) of the issued share capital of the
Company at the date of adoption of the Scheme, excluding
any options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme and any other share option schemes. Afterwards,
pursuant to the Resolution passed by the shareholders in
general meeting held on 26 August 2005 to renew the Limit
(the “Refreshed Scheme Limit"), the Refreshed Scheme Limit is
141,144,059 shares.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed
30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to
time. Option will not be granted to any Eligible Persons if the
exercise in full of all options, including any unexercised options
and shares already issued under all previous option granted,
would in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant enable that relevant Eligible Person to have
shares exceeding 1% of the issued shares of the Company for
the time being unless separate approval by the shareholders in

general meeting is obtained.

No options have been granted by the Company under the
Scheme since its adoption.

Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 41
and 42.

BB SR 2 P B I e 1 T (5 A
AETZROBERZREZ A BRARRD
AREMAEE BT BITHRAZ10%
(T BEEREFT S & ] & iR T
Bl ERERB 2 EMERE) ([£
PRI -EE BERENR=-ZZTHEN
AZ+RREBRTZERRSLABE
FERZRZR ([EFETEI LR -
E a8 _EBR A141,144,0590% B 17

WRIRET 8 R AR RHE I E A B AR A =1 2
B2 A HARITE Z B BT
BAl FRITZBRNDEBE KREZEHATF
BB TREHTRNAE230% MR
EENBRZE-—TRTZAHZ12
@A MREEITEEEBAE (BT
Al 1 RAT 0 2 BB AL HE AR IR PR B B 1E
RO ZBREMBETZRG ) EHE R
EEBALHRAARAER ZE %I
BiEB1% BRERK TSR TE
AABERAL BRIFERBEERERARE LE
SRR SITHE - BIBBHISN -

BERAFTEIE AR RS ER L EME
P4 o

7 5 {3 16 2 B 51 U 41 RA2E
TERARREHE-
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38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 8. S HAHEIE
The Group as lessee rEBERERBEA
2011 2010
= —T—FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Within one year —FLA 960 960
In the second year NE-FNRN - 960
960 1,920
A lease related to office premises is negotiated for remaining 1 B ANEYFEEE HNEERS—F
year and rentals are fixed throughout the lease term. M B A 2 & Bl E e
39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EANEYE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding RIS BIR - AE B 2 H R BITE A
capital commitments as follows: b= N
2011 2010
g% —z—T%
HK$'000 HK$'000
F& T TAT
Capital expenditure contracted RIFEUBHREN LEE
for but not provided in the M- BERZRBDETL
consolidated financial statements BRBEHEZERNREX

in respect of acquisition of
property, plant and equipment - 2,631
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The Group's qualifying employees in Hong Kong participate in
the Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF”) in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of trustee. The Group and each of
the employees make monthly mandatory contributions to the
MPF scheme.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income of HK$3,161,000 (2010:
HK$2,983,000) represents contributions payable to these plans
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Save as
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
details of transactions between the Group and other related
parties are disclosed below.

ARERES 2 A ARIEALRE
ZRHEAHS ([ARS )5 813
BeHEzAERAREZAESD
HE RERARHZESER A
BRI E RS AR ERT B
st

ol

%
o

FEBARZEEFERFRL
ZBIRE R RKENGTEIKE - B
BRARARERKENFTIHANEHFE
HETADLZ B AERERN 2 &
T AKEHRAKEMNGE 2HE—BE
R ETEEH PTR K-

BREZANZRABERZELRAX
£3,161,0008 L (=& —F F:
2,983,000/ T) + hAK ERET &4 Al
e REHNZEFTE 2 HRK -

ARABEREMBLRA (REDARRALZ
BEAL)BZRZIERGAFENE
AW ERAMERE - BRRFRAME
HEREMEAMPAEEEIN NEEEE
MEEALTHZRSFHBRENT -
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41.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS MBEALIRS (&)
(CONTINUED)
Transactions R5
During the year, group entities entered into the following FRN AEEERUNTHEEATRS:

related party transactions:

2011 2010
—F——fF —E—FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Management service income received WER—ERIER A2
from a related company B 1R AR 5 A 301 124
The management service received was based on the agreed TRz BEERE HIRBEIR A E IR
terms and conditions for the management service provided. RR75 2 & M EAR R AR 5T & o
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEBABZTHM
The remuneration of key management personnel during the FEBEBABRFRNZEHMAOT
year was as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Short-term benefits EHREA 931 542
Retirement benefit scheme RIKAE 12 6
943 548
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Details of the Company’s subsidiaries, all of which are wholly

owned by the Company, at 31 March 2011 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MELREE

China Value Assets
Limited (note a) (Ht#ta)

Merit Development
Limited (note a) (#7ita)

Bestime Systems Limited

Billion Source

Investments Limited

Bright Central
Investments Limited

Infinite Nature Limited

Man Lee

Management Limited
ENEEBRAR

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Rl
R R

British Virgin Islands
EBERLES

British Virgin Islands
EBERHS

British Virgin Islands
EBERLES

British Virgin Islands
EBERHS

British Virgin Islands
EBELES

British Virgin Island
EBERHE

Hong Kong

BB

Nominal value
of issued
and fully

paid share/
registered
capital
ERTR
BERAHEE
i & A<

US$1
E

US$1
(E

US$1
E

US$2
2ETT

Us$20,000
20,0003 7T

US$1
E

HK$2

25T

i
B
n

Yap
- B |

Proportion of
ownership
interest

held by

the Company
AT
BAEZHRA
FERE 25 Lt

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

H===08= f == »ZAA T2
NEEHARARZERER  EFE

Principal activity

FTEXEK

Investment holding
REEK

Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding
REEK

Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding
REEK

Investment holding

REEK

Management services

BE IR



Name of subsidiary

MELREE

Silver Epoch
Investments Limited

Value Brilliant

Investments Limited

M¥EREXBRAF
(Siping Ju Neng Medicine
Industry Co., Ltd.)

(note b) (Hiath)

HMITERERHEXBRAF

(Zhejiang Juneng Rosi
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.)
(Note b) (H#7#tb)

Tian Sheng Resources
Development Limited

RERRFAZERAF

Khuderbold LLC

Place of
incorporation/
operation

AR
R

British Virgin Islands
EBELES

British Virgin Islands
EBERHE

PRC

&

British Virgin Islands

RBRARS

Mongolia

=]

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE =T ——F=A=+—HIEFE

Nominal value
of issued
and fully

paid share/
registered
capital
EETR
BERKEE"
= it & A

US$1
(E

US$30,000
30,0003 7T

RMB55,350,000

AR #55,350,0007T

RMB33,333,330

AE#33,333,3307C

US$50,000

50,000% 7T

Us$100,000
100,0003 7T

Proportion of
ownership
interest

held by

the Company
AT
BREZHRA
FEfE 28 Lt

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual Report 2011 3k

Principal activity

FEXEK

Investment holding
REEK

Investment holding

REEK

Manufacture and sales
of pharmaceutical
products

SERHE Em

Manufacture and sales
of pharmaceutical
products

Bl MIHE B m

Investment holding

REEK

Exploration of iron ore
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Nominal value

of issued  Proportion of

and fully ownership
Place of paid share/ interest
incorporation/ registered held by
Name of subsidiary operation capital the Company Principal activity
ERTR AT
AL BERAHEE REZRA
{ng- PR R B & A EEZLLE FTEXHK
Mighty Kingdom British Virgin Islands Us$1 100%  Investment holding
Investments Limited EBERIES 12£7T KEERK
PT. Dampar Golden Indonesia UsSD250,000 55%  Trading of
International iron sand
(note ¢) (H#titc) ZE 250,000 7T BEEHEY
Notes: Bt &t -
(@)  The subsidiaries are directly held by the Company. (@) ZEMBRARBARAEERE-

(b) The subsidiary was a wholly foreign owned enterprises (b) “WEBREIARFBEKILZINGEE
established in the PRC. o

() The subsidiary was acquired on 29 September 2010. (note 35) (© ZMBARARZ-ZE—ZFALA=-ThI
B 4 W HE o (H7i235)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RERSENEAIER B AR
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. EERAEEERES-



43. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION

OF THE COMPANY

Summarised statement of financial position information of the

Company at the end of the reporting period includes:
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43. 7R R B Z AR R E R

e

N,

ARRRERE R 2 HHARREZER

7N
BmERY

0|

D-I-\

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET TATT

Interests in subsidiaries LN PR -3 389,870 106,500
Prepayments, deposits and FENER EZE R

other receivables H th JiE U BR X 261 30,039

Amounts due from subsidiaries JE WS B 8 2~ Bl 3R IR 188,268 61,418

Bank balances and cash RITHEGBNMIR® 73,971 50,615

652,370 248,572

Other payables and accruals H o ET BRI JE ST B A (1,179) (4,419)

Convertible notes Gl &8 (229,980) -

(231,159) (4,419)

Net assets BEFE 421,211 244,153

Share capital (note 32) BN (K7 a£32) 184,937 101,530

Reserves G 236,274 142,623

Total equity R 421,211 244,153

Loss of the Company for current year amounted to
approximately HK$11,693,000 (2010: HK$205,851,000).

KRBRAFE 2 BB A411,693,000
BT (ZZ—Z 4 :205,851,000/8
JC) °
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43. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION INFORMATION

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

43. 7R 1 B Z AR R R E R
mE (&)

Share Share Special Translation  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
A R 1E Bl EXfkE RitEBE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET FET TEL FET TR
At 1 April 2009 RZZZNFNA—AR 70,572 497,831 180,030 = (455,024) 293,409
Loss for the year AFEEER - - = = (205,851) (205,851)
Other comprehensive AEFEMEEBA
income for the year - - - 27 - 27
Total comprehensive AEEBEAERY
expenses for the year - - - 27 (205,851) (205,824)
Issue of shares R & 1T 30,958 128,305 - - - 159,263
Expenses incurred in BBARRPES
connection with the EEZHRE
issue of shares - (2,695) - - - (2,695)
At 31 March 2010 and RZZ-FF
1 April 2010 =A=t+-Ak
“Z-TFMA—H 101,530 623,441 180,030 27 (660,875) 244,153
Loss for the year AEEEE - - - - (11,693) (11,693)
Other comprehensive AEREMRERX
expenses for the year - - - - - -
Total comprehensive AFEERXERYAE
expenses for the year - - - - (11,693) (11,693)
Open offer AREE 50,765 81,224 - - = 131,989
Expenses incurred in BRAREEEEY
connection with open offer % - (3,942) - - - (3,942)
Conversion of AHRREE &R
convertible notes 32,642 28,252 - - - 60,894
Expenses incurred in BRAREEEEY
connection with 53
open offer - (190) - - - (190)
At 31 March 2011 R=ZZ2-—-%
=A=t+-H 184,937 728,785 180,030 27 (672,568) 421,211
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44.

45.

46.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as
at 31 March 2011.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

(@ On 18 March 2011, the Group entered into a
conditional sale and purchase agreement to dispose the
entire interest in Bright Central (the “Disposal”) at a
consideration of HK$30,000,000, which shall be satisfied
in cash. For further details, please refer to the Company
announcement dated 20 March 2011 and note 26. The
Disposal was completed on 16 May 2011.

44. g B,

45.5

46. ¥

EETRBREBRE-T——F=A
=+-RLFEZEARS (ZF-F
) -

HAEE
RZE——F=A=+—H &xEEWL
BEAEASREE-

|:| /\ Té%lg

(@ RZZE——F=A+N\B K&
B —HEGKEEEHZE A
X {830,000,0007% 7t ( H 5 AR
% X ) H EBright Centralz 2
BER([EEFE]) -AEE—
$HEB BL2HARABHAS
T——F=ZA=ZFTRHZAMRK
H26 - HESHER =T ——F
HEA+/ AR
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Year ended 31 March 2 =A=+—HItFE

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—EE+F ZTENF ZTIENF ZT-TF T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAIT TATT FAT T T FE T

Results E
Revenue A 132,415 170,445 167,718 135,320 157,929
Profit/(loss) before tax BRERDER S (EE) (154,384) 66,586 (19,030) (70,343) (45,269)
Tax credit/(charge) BEEE, () (4,304) (1,204) (2,094) 63 -
Profit/(loss) for the year AFEmF| (EBHE)  (158,688) 65,382 (21,124) (70,280) (45,269)

Attributable to: JE{h
Owners of the Company AR AR A (158,688) 65,382 (21,124) (70,280) (45,061)
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F4% J& #E %5 - - - = (208)
(158,688) 65,382 (21,124) (70,280) (45,269)

As at 31 March R=HA=+—H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—ET+F ZTFENF ZTEINGF ZT-TF —ZT——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FATT FA&ET T T FExT
Assets and liabilities EENEE

Total assets BEBE 506,638 570,280 500,053 694,403 1,267,800
Total liabilities BEBE (208,099)  (196,332)  (148,499)  (256,150)  (421,917)
Shareholders’ funds [ERE S 298,539 373,948 351,554 438,253 845,883

140




Asia Resources Holdings Limited

ENERIERARAT

(Stock Code BR{3XEE : 899)

ANNUAL REPORT 2011 &3k



	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and Analysis
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditors’ Report
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Back Cover

